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MISSION, VISION, VALUES

The Social Care Standards Authority is the sole regulatory authority responsible for social welfare 
services in Malta. Since its inception in May 2018, the Authority has sought to support the interests of 
people benefitting from such services, becoming the main contributor to the general improvement of 
social welfare in Malta.

Our mission statement presents the Authority’s goals and guides strategic formulation based on our 
three core values: People Centered, Collaborative and Excellence

Mission Statement 
Regulating social care through dialogue and collaboration.

Vision Statement 
Strive for excellence in welfare services by empowering users and inspiring service 
providers.

VALUES

People Centred
A regulator, actively seeking to contribute towards a dynamic social welfare sector focusing on the 
empowerment of our people to be catalysts of change. 

Collaborative
Embracing and maintaining an attitude of cooperation, respecting each other’s views and guiding our 
stakeholders to ensure that the highest standards are reached and maintained. 

Excellence 
Sharing values of commitment to strive towards excellence and be inspirational in change while 
establishing frameworks for users to experience best quality service that suits their needs within the 
social welfare sector. 
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MINISTER'S FOREWORD
STRIVING TO WORK IN THE BEST INTEREST OF SERVICE USERS

The COVID-19 has had a significant impact 
on the challenges brought with it, where the 
social welfare sector acted as an unsung hero 
which continued carrying out essential services 
during the pandemic. Simultaneously, the 
Maltese Government, together with the Social 
Care Standards Authority and other entities in 
the sector, rose up to the challenge by ensuring 
the continuity of preventative, responsible 
and responsive social services.  Investment in 
technology enabled residents during lockdown 
to remain connected with their loved ones and 
receive the care they deserve, while also enabling 
SCSA to continue perform its regulatory 
function.  Furthermore, the pandemic has 
taught us to adapt while continuing our scrutiny 
and keeping Social Regulatory Standards at the 
centre to drive quality improvement across the 
sector. 

In 2022, the SCSA will continue to follow its 
strategic vision launched in 2020 to safeguard 
the rights of each person in need of any service 
falling under the Authority’s remit.  This will be 
attained by ensuring high quality services in 
the social welfare sector provided in the best 
interest of the person. In this regard, the SCSA 
will continue to be professional and proactive 
in innovating new ways of upholding the level 
of quality of care offered in the social welfare 
sector. 

As the Minister for Active Ageing, I shall ensure 
that the social services provided to older 
persons receive excellent care that respects 
their dignity, needs, and welfare.  In 2022, the 
Authority will continue establishing new Social 
Regulatory Standards that address current 
issues within this care sector.  Committed 
to the Authority’s values, collaboration and 
excellence, the SCSA will continue exploring 
new collaborative platforms with professionals 
and recognised local and external associations 
to further increase its supportive services 
besides that of the regulatory function.  

At a time when the Authority faced heightened 
challenges, it also achieved significant results 
showing its persistence to promote sustainable 
improvement of the quality of service, making a 
positive difference on the lives of persons using 
the services falling under the SCSA’s mandate.  
Successful results achieved by the Authority 
are attributed to its hardworking team who, 
with their commitment and dedication, strive to 
ensure excellent social welfare services. Hence, 
the Ministry of Active Ageing, together with the 
Social Care Standards Authority shall continue 
working diligently to this end.

HON. JO ETIENNE ABELA

Successful results achieved by the Authority are 
attributed to its hardworking team who, with their 
commitment and dedication, strive to ensure 
excellent social welfare services.
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CHAIRPERSON'S FOREWORD
RESILIENCE FOR A VALUED CONTRIBUTION

DR KATYA DE GIOVANNI

In a difficult period of upheaval caused by the ongoing 
impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Authority also had 
to focus on the response to the pandemic. Despite this, it is 
reassuring to note that in the year 2021, the Authority met 
its statutory obligations in full and delivered meaningful 
support for all service users and the service providers.

The year 2021, like its predecessor, has also 
presented significant challenges. Although 
still in its early days, the Social Care Standards 
Authority has positioned itself as an essential 
contributor to the social welfare sector in Malta. 

This year saw major organisational changes 
within the Authority.  Mr Matthew Vella, the 
outgoing Chief Executive Officer has been 
appointed Permanent Secretary within the 
Ministry for Senior Citizens and Active Ageing 
and the Ministry for Inclusion, and Social 
Wellbeing and Voluntary Organisations and 
later Permanent Secretary for the Ministry of 
Education and Sports. I would like to take the 
opportunity to thank Mr Vella for his valued 
contribution to the Authority.  

Dr Angele Ellul Fenech was appointed as the 
new Chief Executive Officer of the Authority 
in July 2021 and, in her remit, she immediately 
embarked on the restructuring of the Authority 
and recruitment of new staff members. This 
initiative had to be given utmost priority for the 
Social Care Standards Authority to continue 
carrying out its primary function: ensuring the 
highest quality care standards for those who are 
most vulnerable within our population.

In a difficult period of upheaval caused by the 
ongoing impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, the 
Authority also had to focus on the response to 
the pandemic. Despite this, it is reassuring to 
note that in the year 2021, the Authority met 
its statutory obligations in full and delivered 
meaningful support for all service users and the 
service providers. 

WHILE CONTINUING TO FULFIL ITS 
STATUTORY REMIT, THE AUTHORITY HAS 
WORKED ALONGSIDE PUBLIC HEALTH TO 
SUPPORT THE SOCIAL WELFARE SYSTEM 
BY INTRODUCING A SET OF GUIDELINES 
TO PREVENT AND CONTROL INFECTION 
IN RESIDENTIAL SERVICES. 

With Malta's growing population, the number 
of local services continues to expand, ensuring 
that the public has continued access to services 
as required.

Looking forward, the Authority shall continue 
to ensure that all the social welfare services in 
Malta provide high quality care to all users and 
prospective ones. This will be achieved through 
setting and publishing standards, licensing 
services, thorough inspections and enforcing 
measures where necessary.

I would like to express sincere gratitude and 
appreciation to all the Social Care Standard 
Authority staff for their hard work throughout 
the year and for always putting health and safety 
at the forefront of their work. I also thank the 
service providers for their valued contribution 
to ensure good quality of service, and all service 
users and their loved ones for their continued 
trust and confidence.
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
OFFICER'S STATEMENT
EMPOWER TO RAISE THE BAR

Some weeks ago, during an event which I 
attended, I heard the phrase "Nagħti  ħafna 
ħajja liż-żmien” (Give more life to time).  As the 
Chief Executive Officer of an Authority which 
regulates social welfare services, this phrase 
inspired me. The Social Care Standards Authority 
is in its fourth year of operations, and thanks to 
the dedication and the work of our employees, 
we tackled challenges and accomplished high 
goals.

WE ARE GLAD TO STATE THAT THE 
AUTHORITY HAS REACHED NEW 
HORIZONS AND STRENGTHENED ITS 
POSITION AS THE SOLE  REGULATOR IN 
THE SOCIAL WELFARE SECTOR.

The social sector has a vital role in our country. 
Our contribution is the establishment of the 
Social Regulatory Standards with which the 
Authority can reach its objective of ensuring 
that users experience the best quality service 
that suits their needs within the social welfare 
sector. 

THROUGHOUT THE YEAR 2021, THE 
AUTHORITY CONTINUED TO IMPROVE 
THE LEVEL OF QUALITY OF LICENSED 
SERVICES. THIS DIRECTLY IMPACTS 
AROUND 50,000 PEOPLE ACROSS MALTA 
AND GOZO WHO MAKE USE OF SOCIAL 
WELFARE SERVICES. THROUGH THE 
SOCIAL REGULATORY STANDARDS, THE 
AUTHORITY ALSO SEEKS TO PROVIDE 
GUIDANCE TO ALL THE SERVICE 
PROVIDERS IN A CONSISTENT AND FAIR 
MANNER.

Similar to other international and local 
organisations, the pandemic impacted the 
Authority’s operations; however, despite the 
challenges, we continued to deliver valuable 
work to ensure that the services provided in all 
the 316 licensed services are more aligned to 
the Standards. These services are spread across 
various sectors, amongst them services for 
senior citizens, persons with disability, children, 
families, adolescents, persons experiencing 
domestic violence, and individuals with 
problems related to substance abuse and other 
dependencies.

Throughout this year, we listened to the senior 
citizen community and worked collaboratively 
with gerontologists and other professionals to 
launch two new Social Regulatory Standards 
specifically for senior citizens living in residential 
homes and those living with dementia. 

The Authority recognises its vital role to be 
closer to the community. During year 2021, 
the Authority also looked at ways to support 
services for persons with disability and 
services for families experiencing challenges. 
The SCSA continued to acknowledge feedback 
by the service users and service providers in 
these sectors, and I am pleased to report that 
over a span of just six months, we met with 
over 80 stakeholders to assist them to reach 
the required standards. We also invested in 
new software to facilitate the communication 
between service users, their relatives and the 
Authority. This software, which was launched 
in October 2021, enables users to send their 
feedback via a user-friendly application on the 
SCSA website. 

The social sector has a vital role in our country. Our 
contribution is the establishment of the Social Regulatory 
Standards with which the Authority can reach its objective of 
ensuring that users experience the best quality service that 
suits their needs within the social welfare sector.  
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DR ANGELE ELLUL FENECH

The Authority also had to face challenging 
decisions; however, they were always taken in an 
informed manner and when required. Although 
the path is sometimes a thorny one, we also 
had the privilege to bring to life beautiful 
experiences. 

A PARTICULAR CASE THAT REMAINS 
CLOSE TO MY HEART IS THAT OF A 
MOTHER WHO WAS REUNITED WITH 
HER DAUGHTER AFTER OVER HALF A 
CENTURY, THANKS TO THE AUTHORITY’S 
INTERVENTION, DEDICATION, AND THE 
HARD WORK OF ITS TEAM MEMBERS.  

Such events motivate the Authority to continue 
supporting persons in need and enable 
them to experience big differences in their 
lives. Collaborating with other entities and 
stakeholders within the social welfare sector 
proved to lead change and achieve successful 
results in an effective and efficient manner.

The COVID-19 pandemic made more evident the 
hidden daily work of the Authority’s employees 
as they continue to ensure the best quality 
service is being provided to users. In the first 
six months of 2021, the Authority’s premises 
served as a vaccination hub operated by SCSA 
employees, whilst in the second half of the year, 
the Authority worked relentlessly to catch up 
and complete its objectives for the year. The 
SCSA also added new protocols and frequent 
assessment visits to guide service providers to 
mitigate the infection spread. This pandemic 
showcased the crystal-clear reality that the 
social sector is a vital sector that serves as the 
backbone for our society built on social values.

We are geared for another challenging yet 
fruitful year, and the Authority will continue 
collaborating with service providers, 
stakeholders, policy makers, and external and 
international associations to inspire change 
where improvements are required. The Authority 
shall also continue to establish high level but 
sustainable standards focused on the wellbeing 
of the users.

The SCSA looks towards the future as it continues 
to drive the social sector forward, by investing 
in research and serving as a knowledge hub to 
influence the sector it regulates in a proactive 
manner. The Authority established various new 
units within its three Directorates to ensure the 
fulfilment of the SCSA Strategy for 2020-2027 
launched by my predecessor, Mr Matthew Vella, 
whom I thank for his work. We are also investing 
in mechanisms to ensure that the SCSA’s 
internal work is carried out smoothly, enabling 
the Authority to serve as a role model to those 
it regulates.  The Authority is looking ahead to 
continue serving as a source of information and 
a catalyst for knowledge sharing between staff 
members. This approach will help to inspire 
innovation to achieve better results in the 
Authority’s objectives and continue to regulate 
the social welfare sector, one of the most 
significant sectors on the island.

REFERRING BACK TO MY INTRODUCTORY 
STATEMENT “NAGĦTU ĦAFNA ĦAJJA LIŻ-
ŻMIEN”, THE SCSA SHALL CONTINUE TO 
ENSURE THAT USERS OF ANY LICENSED 
SERVICE EXPERIENCE SOCIAL CARE OF 
A HIGH QUALITY THAT IS IN THEIR BEST 
INTEREST.



22 23

SCSA | ANNUAL REPORT 2021SCSA | ANNUAL REPORT 2021

WHO WE ARE

Established in May 2018 through the enactment 
of the Social Care Standards Authority Act, 
Chapter 582 of the Laws of Malta, the Social Care 
Standards Authority oversees all social welfare 
services in Malta.  The Authority is responsible 
for the establishment of Social Regulatory 
Standards to lead the service providers and 
influence any change to ensure that each 
service provided suits the users’ needs. 
 
As the sole regulator responsible for welfare 
services in Malta, the SCSA’s remit extends also 
to the licensing of service providers working in 
different sectors within Malta ranging from non-
residential and residential services for children 
to senior citizens.  

Excellence 

Collaborative People Centred

Committed to its vision, the Authority regularly 
carries out various audit visits during the year to 
the licensed service providers and supports each 
service provider by identifying shortcomings 
and direct them to take the necessary remedial 
actions in order to continuously maintain high 
quality provision of service.

The SCSA Act 2018 empowers the Authority 
to enforce through various sanctions when 
required. By focusing on its values - people 
centered, collaborative and excellence - the 
Authority shall continue achieving new horizons 
within the social welfare sector.

ACT AS A CATALYST IN THE 
PROMOTION OF A VALUE FOR 
MONEY PERSPECTIVE WITHIN 
THE SOCIAL WELFARE SECTION

CONSOLIDATE A CULTURE 
THAT WILL ENABLE THE 
AUTHORITY TO REGULATE AND 
LEAD TRANSFORMATIONAL 
CHANGES IN SOCIAL 
WELFARE SERVICE IN MALTA

REINFORCE THE
DIALOGUE AND
CONSULTATION
WITH SERVICE 
USERS, SERVICE 
PROVIDERS 
AND OTHER 
STAKEHOLDERS

ESTABLISH A 
PEOPLE - CENTRED
INTEGRATED SYSTEM
MAXIMISING 
THE USE OF 
TECHNOLOGY
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CORE FUNCTIONS

GRANTING LICENSING

The Authority is the sole entity granting licenses 
to the social welfare service providers in Malta. 
This license grants the service provider the right 
to operate and provide a social welfare service. 

OUR STRUCTURE

During 2021, the organisation underwent a major 
restructuring process.  Until the appointment of 
the new CEO in July 2021, the SCSA structure 
comprised of three Directorates (Strategy & 
Social Intelligence, Governance & Assurance, 
and Operations) and four Units (Enforcement, 
Legal, Quality Assurance, and Initiatives & 
Projects).  The new organigram reflects a robust 
governance and internal control structure 
required for SCSA’s regulatory function which 
includes the three lines of defence.

The first line embraces the operational 
management focusing on internal controls 
and the establishment and implementation 
of policies and procedures.  The second line 
of defence comprises of risk management, 
and compliance while external audit serves 
as the third line of defence.  In addition, the 
organisational restructuring included the 
establishment of eight new different units with 
the aim of ensuring organisational effectiveness 
– HR, IT, Procurement & Administration, 
Compliance & Governance, Risk Management, 
Litigation & Mediation, Documentary, and 
Initiative & Funding Units.

WEAVING SOCIAL REGULATORY 
STANDARDS 

Each new standard is published after a public 
consultation and thorough reviews with the 
collaboration of professionals in the sector. 
The Standards assist service providers in their 
operations whilst informing the users about 
their rights.  Hence, the Authority ensures that 
the social sector is being re-regulated on an 
ongoing basis to provide a positive experience 
to the users. 

CONDUCTING ASSESSMENTS

Through the quality indicators within the Social 
Regulatory Standards, the Authority’s Assessors 
carry out number of visits annually on various 
themes, besides the visits conducted following 
complaints received and provide time-framed 
remedial actions. In this way, each service 
provided is continuously being evaluated to 
raise the bar. 

ENSURING COMPLIANCE

By putting the users at the heart of the 
Authority’s ontology, the Enforcement Unit 
ensures that remedial actions are implemented 
by the Service Providers to ensure that licensed 
services comply with the respective Regulatory 
Standards.
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DR KATYA DE GIOVANNI - Chairperson

MS MYRIAM ROSE GRECH - Deputy Chairperson

MR ANTHONY ATTARD - Member

DR EMANUEL K/A NOEL BEZZINA - Member

PROF. MARVIN FORMOSA - Member 

MS PRISCILLA MUSCAT - Member

MR RONNIE VELLA - Member 

MS THERESE MICALLEF GAUCI - Secretary 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

In accordance with the SCSA Act 2018, Chapter 582 Article 9, the Social Care Standards Authority’s 
Board of Directors is appointed by the Minister responsible for the Authority.  The Board of Directors is 
composed of seven professionals and experienced members. The current Board was appointed for a 
tenure of three years on 22nd October 2018, which appointments were extended in October 2021.

Article 8 of the SCSA Act, affirms that the Authority’s Board of Directors is responsible for the affairs, 
business, carrying out of the functions of the Authority and develops the necessary strategies for the 
implementation of the objectives of the Authority.

In 2021, the Social Care Standards Authority’s Board of Directors was composed of: 

A total of 17 Board meetings were held throughout year 2021. From August to December 2021, the Board 
of Directors met a total of ten times, while the rest of the meetings were held between January and July 
2021. 

CHIEF 
EXECUTIVE 

OFFICER 

EXECUTIVE 
COMMITTEE 

OPERATIONS
DIRECTORATE

LEGAL AND 
GOVERNANCE 
DIRECTORATE

QUALITY 
ASSURANCE 

DIRECTORATE

PROJECT
MANAGER

ETHICS AND
GOVERNANCE

COMMITTEE

SPECIAL 
PROJECTS

COMMITTEE

REGULATORY
COMMITTEE

AUDIT 
AND RISK

COMMITTEE

PERSONAL
ASSISTANT

FINANCE UNITSTANDARDS 
UNIT

LICENSING 
UNIT

HUMAN 
RESOURCES 

AND EXTERNAL 
RELATIONS UNIT

COMPLIANCE 
AND 

GOVERNANCE 
UNIT

INSPECTORATE
UNIT

PROCUREMENT 
AND 

ADMINISTRATION 
UNIT

LITIGATION AND 
MEDIATION UNIT

ENFORCEMENT 
UNIT

PROJECT 
MANAGEMENT 

FACILITIES UNIT

CENTRAL 
AUTHORITY

INFORMATION
TECHNOLOGY 

UNIT

DOCUMENTARY 
UNIT

INITIATIVE AND 
FUNDING UNIT

COMMUNICATIONS 
UNIT

SOCIAL 
INTELLIGENCE 

UNIT
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COMMITTEES

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

During year 2021, five committees have been established to ensure a robust governance structure 
while supporting in the operational matters of the SCSA.  The Executive Committee was set up to 
oversee the overall running of the SCSA, whilst four other committees are responsible to support the 
Authority in the execution of its function and are accountable to the Executive Committee. 

These committees are composed of employees from different Units within the Authority with the 
option of engaging independent external professionals to assist in specialised matters.  Each of 
these committees employs an oversight mechanism which is specific to their areas of responsibility. 

The main purpose of the Executive Committee is to oversee the Authority’s responsibilities and 
functions as defined in the SCSA Act. 

The Executive Committee provides an independent oversight and communicates non-binding 
opinions and recommendations to the Authority’s Chief Executive Officer to facilitate the decision-
making process. In addition to ensuring best practices, the Executive Committee serves as an 
executive support function to reach the Authority’s objectives. Through the Executive Committee, 
the SCSA reviews matters relating to finance, audit and risk management, strategy, ethics and 
governance. 
  
Throughout the year under review, the Executive Committee conducted four meetings since its 
establishment towards the end of 2021.

EXECUTIVE 
COMMITTEE 

ETHICS AND
GOVERNANCE

COMMITTEE

SPECIAL 
PROJECTS

COMMITTEE

REGULATORY
COMMITTEE

AUDIT 
AND RISK

COMMITTEE
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AUDIT AND RISK 
MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

REGULATORY AND QUALITY 
ASSURANCE COMMITTEE

The Audit and Risk Management Committee oversees the Authority’s financial, audit, risk 
management, and internal control practices. Primarily, its role is to ensure that financial statements 
are prepared and drawn up in accordance with the applicable standards.  This Committee also advises 
the Executive Committee on any issues or concerns with operations or management accounts and 
reviews the annual financial budget of the Authority prepared in line with the SCSA’s strategy. 

The Audit and Risk Management Committee also reviews the financial reports and any published 
financial statements, including the Annual Report and the audited financial statements.  

In terms of risk management, the Committee oversees the Authority’s risk management framework; 
an approach which was established to manage the risks that the Authority might be exposed to, while 
discharging its responsibilities. The nature and the extent of the material risks included in the Risk 
Register together with the risk mitigation actions taken are assessed by the same Committee. 

As the core function of the Authority, the Regulatory and Quality Assurance Committee monitors 
the Authority’s licensing, inspectorate, and enforcement functions, and any other quality assurance 
practices. This Committee provides an oversight mechanism which serves to provide confidence in 
the integrity of the SCSA’s internal practices and supports the efficient and smooth operation of the 
Authority from a regulatory and quality assurance perspective. 

This Committee is responsible to assess non-compliant licensed service providers, and also propose 
possible remedial actions and sanctions to the Executive Committee in order to ensure fulfilment of 
the SCSA’s functions and applicable regulations. 

ETHICS AND 
GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

The Ethics and Governance Committee’s role is to ensure that all staff members perform their 
functions with the highest integrity required by the Authority. This is achieved by fostering a 
people-oriented culture within the Authority which is centred around sound ethics, integrity, and 
accountability. 

The Committee reviews and assesses internal mechanisms, policies and practices adopted by the 
management to ensure that the Authority’s values and ethical standards are observed.  Through 
these practices, the management will be able to properly establish, maintain, and monitor high ethical 
standards for all SCSA employees. The Ethics and Governance Committee also strives to ensure that 
said practices and systems follow the relevant laws and regulations and certify the absence of any 
legal or ethical violations. 

SPECIAL PROJECTS COMMITTEE

The primary role of this Committee is to review any projects and special events that the Authority may 
embark on.  This Committee also oversees the purchasing planning and practices of the Authority to 
ensure that the procurement procedures are in line with the applicable policies and regulations. The 
Committee monitors the processes for the adequacy and effectiveness of internal controls, including 
but not limited to those projects having a social and environmental impact. 
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DIRECTORATES

LEGAL AND GOVERNANCE 
DIRECTORATE

Dr Noel Cutajar

Director Legal 
and Governance

The Social Care Standards Authority functions through three core Directorates: The Legal and 
Governance Directorate, the Quality Assurance Directorate, and the Operations Directorate. These 
Directorates work collaboratively to drive continuous improvement in the Maltese regulatory social 
welfare sector. 

The Legal and Governance Directorate was established in 2021 to deal with the Authority's legal 
matters. This Directorate comprises five units, out of which two Units are entrusted with the overall 
governance aspects of the Authority. The other two Units focus on the core function of the Authority 
whilst the remaining Unit is responsible for business continuity function.

The Social Care Standards Authority is fully committed to high standards of governance. This is of 
utmost importance for the Authority, particularly in its need to be a role model for other entities.
Data protection is an integral part of the SCSA's operations and is thoroughly managed by the 
Legal and Governance Directorate.  The Directorate is responsible for establishing, managing, and 
overseeing the Authority's data protection strategy to ensure compliance with GDPR requirements.

The Standards Unit as a backbone of the core function of the Authority, establishes the Social 
Regulatory Standards for a number of social welfare services being provided. Each Standard is 
developed by the Standards team in consultation with the general public and professionals in the 
respective sector through various communication channels.  

Established Regulatory Standards include:

Services for Children 

 • Adoption of Children 
 • Residential Services for Children in Alternative Care 
 • Office-Based Services for Children in Alternative Care 

Services for Persons with Disability

 • Residential Services for Persons with Disability 
 • Respite Services for Persons with Disability 
 • Day Centre Services for Persons with Disability 
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Services regarding Substance Abuse and Other Dependencies 

 •  Residential Services offered to Individuals with problems related to Substance Abuse and 
   other Dependencies 
 • Outreach and Community-based Services offered to Individuals with problems related to
  Substance Abuse and other Dependencies  

Services for Senior Citizens 

 • High Dependency Chronic Care Services for Older Persons 
 • Residential Services for Senior Citizens 
 • Residential Services for Persons Living with Dementia in Homes for Senior Citizens 

Services offered in the Community 

 • Community-based and Outreach Services

As part of the Authority’s governance, the Compliance and Governance Unit serves as a second line 
of defence and ensures that each Unit adheres to its control system.  This Unit oversees that each 
process converges with the respective policies, procedures and applicable regulations.

Through its constant monitoring over the internal processes, this Unit ensures that all Units within 
the Authority abide by the established principles and responsibilities as stipulated in applicable 
regulations in a consistent manner. It also ensures that SCSA’s functions embrace integrity whilst 
adopting a  robust governance and internal control structure.  Additionally, the Compliance and 
Governance Unit is responsible to align internal policies and procedures, with any amendments in 
regulations that may change and become applicable from time to time. 

The Litigation and Mediation Unit provides legal advice to the Authority’s Units on matters that 
fall under the SCSA’s responsibility. This Unit is also responsible for drafting legal documents 
necessary for the establishment of Regulatory Standards and supports other Units, in particular the 
Enforcement Unit, in their day-to-day operations.  In addition, the Litigation and Mediation Unit is 
responsible for the Authority's compliance with the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) and 
the Data Protection Act, Freedom of Information (FOI) and the Protection of the Whistleblower Act.  

The Documentary Unit guides the Authority's employees on the proper creation of records, their 
classification, movement of documents between units and retention periods in accordance with the 
GDPR and relevant SCSA policies. The Documentary Unit conducts regular information sessions to  
staff to ensure that documentation management is kept consistent and updated.

The Central Authority 

The Social Care Standards Authority is the designated Central Authority for Malta. The Central 
Authority is responsible for cross border child abduction and access, maintenance obligations, 
adoption, fostering and cross border protection of children.
The Central Authority is responsible to enforce the European Union Regulation or International 
Convention within Malta’s jurisdiction with respect to the cross-border protection of children.

 • 1993 Hague Convention on Protection of Children and Cooperation in Respect of Intercountry 
   Adoption
 • 1980 Hague Convention on the Civil Aspects of International Child Abduction
 • 2007 Hague Convention on the International Recovery of Child Support and Other Forms of 
   Family Maintenance

In the discharge of its functions the Central Authority works in close collaboration with other foreign 
Central Authorities, foreign embassies, and consulates in order to successfully conclude intercountry 
cases. At a national level it also coordinates with the various local entities and stakeholders.
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OPERATIONS DIRECTORATE

The Operations Directorate is responsible for 
the management of the day-to-day operations 
at the SCSA and the well-functioning of the 
Authority.  It also aims to simplify processes with 
the aim of encouraging a dynamic workflow and 
increasing accountability.  The seven support 
functions falling under its remit are mainly i) 
the management of the workforce;  ii) financial 
planning and analysis; iii) the establishment of 
an effective information base to ensure proper 
and timely response to requests for information; 
iv) the launch of initiatives strategically aimed 
at facilitating communication with stakeholders 
within the local social welfare sector and with 
other international stakeholders;  v) technological 
infrastructure and vi) maintenance and 
refurbishment of premises and vii) coordination 
and oversight of operational projects.

The Human Resources and External Relations 
Unit ensures that employees work in a 
collaborative, supportive, and safe environment.  
It also promotes a high-performance 
culture across the Authority by focusing 
on organisational growth, employee career 
progression, and professional development.  The 
Unit’s responsibility is to provide the Authority 
with the human resource capabilities, essential 
for the fulfilment of its mission.  It does this 
by attracting and retaining suitably qualified 
staff members. Apart from employee relations 
and recruitment, this Unit is also involved in 
managing international relations, through which 
it aims to foster effective communication and 
collaboration with international stakeholders.

The Finance Unit manages the Authority’s 
corporate finances.  This includes the 
preparation of financial budgets and planning, 
monthly management accounts and cost 
analysis, bookkeeping, payments to suppliers, 
payroll, and statutory financial statements.  In 
addition, it also considers the financial viability 
of a corporate proposition.

The Procurement and Administration Unit 
is responsible for managing the Authority’s 
facilities including the administration of the 
premises, transport, and logistics.  In addition, 
it is tasked with procuring supplies and services 
from external suppliers and handling tendering 
processes, whilst ensuring best practice and 
maintaining adequate controls. 

The Social Intelligence Unit is responsible for the 
information management function.  It supports 
the Authority in data-driven decision-making by 
providing key statistics and trends on the social 
welfare sector. This Unit assists SCSA to trigger 
early warning signs and therefore the Authority 
can be in a better position to pre-empt incidents.

The Information Technology Unit is responsible 
for the Authority’s information technology 
infrastructure by supporting and overseeing the 
installation, enhancement, and maintenance 
of both computer and network systems.  This 
function is key to provide operational support to 
the other functions of the SCSA and also ensure 
secure transfer of data. 

The Communications Unit supports the SCSA’s 
strategic priority of engaging directly and 
regularly with internal staff and with key local 
external stakeholders, including social welfare 
providers and users.  In addition, it is responsible 
in facilitating communication by managing 
public and media relations locally, taking care 
of marketing campaigns and branding, as well 
as organising the SCSA’s events including 
workshops and seminars.  This Unit handles 
the SCSA’s reputation and image on digital 
platforms, including the Authority’s website 
and social media presence, as well as offline 
platforms, including written publications. 

The Project Management Facilities Unit 
manages the overall execution of the Authority’s 
facility projects and other change initiatives, 
whilst ensuring that the Authority provides a 
safe and secure environment for the employees. 
This Unit acts as a support function to key 
business operations and projects to lead to their 
successful accomplishment.  

Letizia Marmara'

Director 
Operations
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QUALITY ASSURANCE 
DIRECTORATE

The Quality Assurance Directorate comprises five units that together contribute towards the discharge 
of the core functions of the Authority. The members within the respective units are the SCSA’s frontliners 
who are continuously in contact with both service providers and service users. They also collaborate 
with other stakeholders and professionals in the social welfare field. The Quality Assurance Directorate 
is involved in the early stages of each prospective licensed service and continues throughout the 
lifespan of the license granted. The role of the Quality Assurance Directorate with respect to service 
providers includes licensing, monitoring, follow-up and enforcement. From a service user perspective, 
this Directorate deals with complaints and enquiries received through the various communication 
channels.  

As the name implies, the Quality Assurance Directorate strives to ensure that high quality service is 
provided to the users as required by the applicable Social Regulatory Standards.  

Licensing Unit

The Licensing Unit is the first point of contact between the prospective service providers and the 
Authority. 

The Unit, which is headed by the Manager Licensing, is comprised of Assessors, Research Officers and 
Senior Research Officers together with other administrative staff.  

When an application for a license is received by this Unit, a rigorous on-boarding process is initiated 
with the assistance and contribution of other units within the Authority.  This process involves the 
validation of data and documentation submitted by the applicant and an on-site visit is carried out 
by the Inspectorate Unit. Following the evaluation process, eligible applications are granted a license 
under one of three categories, namely, a full license, a temporary license or an emergency license in 
accordance with the SCSA Act, Chapter 582.  A full license is issued for a period of one year.  A license 
renewal process is therefore required, again with the assistance of other Units within the Authority.   
As the main point of contact with the service providers, the Licensing Unit is responsible to correspond 
with the service providers with regards to the monitoring, licensing and enforcement matters.

Inspectorate Unit 

Through the Inspectorate Unit, the Authority operates its regulatory function by carrying out on-site 
inspections. This continuous monitoring process which is an integral part of the Authority’s remit 
necessitates periodical and regular visits to be carried out by this Unit both planned and unannounced.

The Unit comprises staff members with a wide spectrum of experience and qualifications, ranging from 
qualifications in social policy to allied health professionals like nurses and occupational therapists.

The visits under normal circumstances are classified in 3 categories, namely monitoring, licensing and 
feedback visits.  Two other types of visits were carried out during 2021 in relation to the COVID-19 
vaccination programme and infection control in which the Authority assisted the Public Health. The 
Inspectorate Unit carried out joint visits with the Enforcement Unit during which each Assessor from 
the respective team covers the different areas in line with their remit and the audit schedule.  This joint 
effort served to increase infection control awareness to mitigate COVID-19 spread within the licensed 
residential homes. Furthermore, the Inspectorate Unit also carried out other visits in relation to data 
collection which required collaboration with other entities.

Sandro Zarb

Director Quality 
Assurance
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Monitoring visits are planned and cover certain aspects of the Social Regulatory Standards.  One may say 
that this is the core function of the Inspectorate Unit. The audit schedule prepared by the Inspectorate 
Unit is set to ensure that the visits cover all deliverables of the Social Regulatory Standards at least 
once a year. A high percentage of monitoring visits are unannounced so that observations made by the 
Assessors are made during the normal course of business and hence rendered more effective.

Licensing visits are carried out in connection with the licensing process, both at the on-boarding stage 
and at the license renewal stage. This process requires close collaboration with the Licensing and 
Enforcement Units to avoid duplication of work.

The third type of visits carried out by the Inspectorate Unit are more of an investigative nature when 
the visits are in response to feedback received from service users, their relatives or other stakeholders. 
Such feedback is handled by the Feedback Unit.

Feedback Section

This Unit analyses feedback received utilising a three-tier system to ensure proper and efficient 
response in a timely manner:

 • Tier 1: These feedback cases are of minor nature and are discussed and very 
  often concluded over the phone.

 • Tier 2: These feedback cases are forwarded to the Inspectorate Unit who reviews 
  the case to establish whether there is departure from the applicable Social 
  Regulatory Standards. Normally a visit is carried out by the Inspectorate Unit.

 • Tier 3: These feedback cases deal with more serious allegations and are forwarded 
  to the Enforcement Unit, who initiates a formal investigation to ensure that relative 
  evidence is collected on time. 

There are various ways through which the Authority receives feedback, including by telephone, email 
and through the Authority’s website.  

Enforcement Unit 

One of the main roles of the Enforcement Unit within the Authority is to investigate and carry out visits 
in response to feedback cases which are of a serious nature. The Enforcement Unit also follows up 
remedial actions issued by the Licensing Unit and the Inspectorate Unit to ensure compliance.
The Enforcement Unit is composed of a multi-disciplinary team who through their experience and 
qualifications, are able to handle issues which are of a sensitive nature in a professional way.  During 
2021 the Enforcement Unit also referred a number of cases to other regulatory entities to carry out 
further investigations.   

Initiatives and Funding Unit 

The Initiatives and Funding Unit is responsible for the coordination and efficient implementation of 
initiatives and assignments undertaken by the Authority in relation to core functions of the SCSA. This 
Unit is engaged in the planning and the implementation of such projects and carries out the necessary 
logistics to ensure their completion in accordance with the exigencies of the Quality Assurance 
Directorate.  This Unit is required to explore all funding opportunities, particularly EU schemes to tap 
into funds and initiatives which will assist the Authority to embark on specific projects.
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ACCOMPLISHMENTS 2021

During the peak of the COVID-19 pandemic in 
2021, the SCSA and its employees from all the 
3 Directorates rose to the challenge that the 
pandemic continued to pose. They continued 
to work hard to ensure continuity of the 
Authority’s regular operations and adapted their 
work to respond proactively to the situation. 
The employees were resilient and worked 
collaboratively with Public Health to mitigate 
the effects of the pandemic in social welfare 
services.  This is truly an achievement for the 
Authority as it has been able to successfully 
deal with the impact of the pandemic whilst 
maintaining its day-to-day operations. 

LEGAL AND 
GOVERNANCE 
DIRECTORATE
Although the Legal and Governance Directorate 
has been recently established, it has already 
achieved significant tangible results.

New Social Regulatory Standards to support 
Senior Citizens and Persons with Dementia 
Living in Residential Care

In August 2021, following public consultation 
held during 2020, the Authority launched the 
Social Regulatory Standards for Residential 
Services for Senior Citizens, enforcing them 
through a Legal Notice. The new standards 
focus on the residents' physical and mental 
well-being and embrace the fundamental 
principle of respect, dignity and independence. 

The standards mainly focus on the rights of the 
service users including the right to choose the 
gender of persons providing personal care, the 
need for each shift to include a mix of staff who 
are fluent in both Maltese and English, and the 
need for care homes to ensure medical coverage. 
New quality indicators were incorporated into 
the standards to empower the Authority to 
legally oblige service providers to implement 
the measures indicated within these Standards.  
Quality indicators set out the requirements 
to achieve compliance with the Standards 
while the performance indicators act as active 
descriptors of what service providers need to 
do to ensure that service outputs support the 
quality indicators. 

The Authority can identify shortcomings 
which the service providers can rectify 
through remedial actions. As with other Social 
Regulatory Standards previously published by 
this Authority, this document is accompanied by 
an easy-read version intended to present the key 
features of the Standards in an understandable 
and more accessible format.

CONSULTATIONS
WITH SERVICE

PROVIDERS,
PROFESSIONALS

AND SERVICE USERS
TAKE PLACE

GUIDELINES
ARE 

PUBLISHED
AND MADE 

AVAILABLE TO 
THE PUBLIC

FIRST DRAFT OF 
THE GUIDLINES 

IS LAUNCHED 
FOR PUBLIC 

CONSULTATION

RELEVANT 
FEEDBACK IS 

INCORPORATED 
INTO THE

GUIDELINES
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SOCIAL REGULATORY 
STANDARDS FOR 
PERSONS LIVING 
WITH DEMENTIA 
IN HOMES FOR 
SENIOR CITIZENS

SOCIAL REGULATORY 
STANDARDS FOR 

RESIDENTIAL 
SERVICES FOR 

SENIOR CITIZENS

Standard 1
Legal Representation 

Standard 1
Residents' Rights

Standard 2
Personal Care Plan and Portfolio

Standard 3
Residents' Personal Health and Medical Care

Standard 4
Protection and Safeguarding

Standard 5
Physical Environment

Standard 6
Service Provision

Standard 7
Service Quality Management

Standard 2
Residents’ Personal Health 
and Medical Care

Standard 3
Physical Environment

Standard 4
Service Quality Management

Data Protection Initiatives

Data Protection is an integral part of the 
operations within the Legal and Governance 
Directorate.  

The GDPR and Data Protection Act impose an 
obligation on a data controller to designate 
a Data Protection Officer (DPO). In fact, the 
Authority appointed a DPO whose primary role 
is to ensure that the SCSA is appropriately 
processing the personal data of its staff, 
service providers, service users, or any other 
individuals in compliance with the applicable 
data protection rules. Moreover, the DPO is 
consulted to give advice or recommendations 
to the Authority about the interpretation or 
application of the data protection rules. In 2021, 
the Data Protection Retention Policy was revised 
to reflect the ongoing changes within the 
Authority with the establishment of new units 
and directorates.  

Whistleblower Protection: The purpose of 
having a Whistle-blower Policy is to allow 
employees and the public, in general, to report 
improper practices by their employers or 
employees. The SCSA takes such reports of 
wrong practice seriously, and in line with the 
SCSA Code of Ethics (which is an extension of 
the Public Administration Act's Code of Ethics), 
all employees are to be held accountable for 
their actions. As per the policy and the relevant 
law, both the whistle-blower and the reports on 
improper practices are protected.  There were 
no Whistleblower reports during 2021.

Freedom of Information: In accordance with 
the Freedom of Information Act, Chapter 496 of 
the Laws of Malta, the SCSA supports the right 
of access to information held by the Authority 
in order to further promote accountability 
and transparency in its operations. The SCSA 
received one Freedom of Information request 
in 2021 which was acknowledged and processed.

The Social Regulatory Standards for Persons 
Living with Dementia in Homes for Senior 
Citizens were launched in September 2021, 
following a public consultation held between 
May and June of the same year. The Authority 
embraced feedback on the documents 
from stakeholders, including the public and 
professionals. As part of this public consultation, 
the Authority also received input from relatives 
of service users, entities with an interest in 
senior citizens, dementia and associated areas, 
and experts in dementia care.

These newly launched Social Regulatory 
Standards, also supported with quality and 
performance indicators are based upon 
the understanding that persons living with 
dementia have different needs which should 
be acknowledged and may require additional 
measures to safeguard their welfare. These 
Social Regulatory Standards are to be applied in 
conjunction with the existing Social Regulatory 
Standards for Residential Services for Senior 
Citizens and used as an assisting tool to the 
service provider. These Standards include the 
assurance of a legal representative, specialised 
training for management and staff, and the 
adaptation of the physical environment of the 
residential care home to promote residents' 
ability to navigate their environment safely. 
These Social Regulatory Standards have also 
been enacted by a Legal Notice and are therefore 
legally binding.
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THE MALTA CENTRAL AUTHORITY
Adoptions

Throughout 2021, the Central Authority of Malta received 73 applications from prospective adoptive 
parents who wished to adopt a child. These applications were for adoptions of children from various 
countries. There were 22 intercountry adoptions finalised in 2021, with the majority of the children 
being adopted from India. A further two local adoptions were concluded, bringing the total number 
of adoptions finalised to 26. The Central Authority also continued to organise and further improve its 
administrative processes to enhance governance efficiency. During the last quarter of 2021, the Unit 
responsible for the Central Authority collaborated with the Documentary Unit to continue enhancing 
the document management system. 

In 2021, the total of 26 adoptions were finalised, of which 13 were male and 13 female. The majority of 
the adoptions were children between five and nine years of age; only four of the children adopted were 
over ten years old. The number of applications processed by the Malta Central Authority in 2020 was 
also 26.

The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic impacted the adoption process due to the closure of airports and 
courts. The Malta Central Authority's role was essential in guiding prospective adoptive parents and 
liaising with local authorities and foreign Central Authorities to follow up and provide update in relation 
to the restrictions imposed in other countries.  

Child Abduction

The Malta Central Authority deals also with cases and requests from other countries whose children 
have been abducted by a parent and brought to or travelled through Malta and handles cases of 
children taken out of Malta illegally. The Malta Central Authority is continuously in contact with other 
foreign Central Authorities when international child abduction case is referred to the SCSA. 

In 2021, the Malta Central Authority dealt with ten child abduction cases. 

Figure 1 : Adoptions 2021
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Figure 2 : Age of Adopted Children
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Recovery of child support and other forms of family maintenance

In 2021, the Central Authority processed 16 applications related to assistance to parties in the 
establishment and recovery of maintenance. In the case of outgoing applications, the Malta Central 
Authority held meetings with the applicants, compiled the necessary documents and liaised with 
the respective international Central Authority to seek solutions to difficulties which may arise in the 
application process.
  
In the case of incoming requests, the Malta Central Authority initiated legal proceedings or provided 
the relevant country with the requested information. In these cases, cooperation with other local 
entities was essential. 
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OPERATIONS 
DIRECTORATE

QUALIFICATION LEVEL OF STAFF:

MQF LEVEL 8 1

MQF LEVEL 7 16

MQF LEVEL 6 14

MQF LEVEL 5 6

MQF LEVEL 4 OR LOWER 13

TOTAL 50

Figure 3: Employee qualification level 

Despite the unexpected outbreak of COVID-19, the Operations Directorate strived to remain effective in 
its daily administrative duties and managed to achieve milestones to facilitate the Authority’s operations.  
Continued investment in information technologies and introduction of new systems, together with a 
dedicated and professional workforce, were the backbone of the main accomplishments achieved by 
the units comprising this Directorate.    

The Authority recognises the fact that all the achievements and successes garnered by the entity are 
fully attributed to its employees and their hard work and dedication. During the year under review, the 
Social Care Standards Authority continued to strengthen its human resources by recruiting a team of 
professionals with extensive experience and skills.

The Authority’s total number of employees at the end of 2021 totalled 50 people across all three 
directorates and the CEO’s office, with female employees making up 62% of the work force. Furthermore, 
an additional two employees were engaged to start working at SCSA in the first month of 2022.

During the year 2021, the Social Intelligence Unit established internal system to simplify manual 
processes within all Units at the SCSA.  It revamped the internal forms including those used by the 
Quality Assurance Directorate – licensing, inspectorate, enforcement, and feedback.  Such exercise 
also assisted in gathering monthly statistical information from residential service providers in a 
standardised and efficient manner on a periodic basis.  The Social Intelligence Unit assisted in data 
vetting and data analysis processes.  The implementation of such new systems for data collection were 
also useful to reduce potential instances of missing or inaccurate information.  The Unit’s contribution 
was crucial for data consistency across the Authority and it managed to achieve such objective despite 
having sourced data from different avenues.   
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The Communications Unit whilst it continued to strengthen the Authority’s reputation and image using 
multiple platforms, it also established more effective internal communication channels.  Despite the 
extraordinary circumstances that one had to adapt to throughout the pandemic, the Unit continued its 
invaluable work of a facilitator of communication between the Authority and the stakeholders of the 
social welfare sector.  During 2021, it organised press conferences for the launch of Social Regulatory 
Standards for Residential Services for Older Persons and Social Regulatory Standards for Residential 
Services for Persons Living with Dementia and was also involved in coordinating press releases to 
launch the WebApp.    

During October 2021, the Authority participated in the MCAST Freshers’ Week.  This was a new initiative 
aimed to reach out to students and raise awareness on the Authority’s valuable contribution towards 
society.  The target audience was students who might be interested to work in the social welfare field 
or who might have feedback on services licensed by SCSA.  This endeavour was successful following a 
combined effort from the Inspectorate Unit.

Furthermore, the Communications Unit also dedicated its efforts to organise team building activities 
for its staff.  These included a summer staff barbeque, monthly dress down days in aid of Huntington 
Disease awareness and a Christmas competition between Directorates where employees were 
encouraged to collaborate to decorate their offices using recycled materials.

The Project Management Facilities Unit was involved in three major accomplishments during 
2021, mainly the launch of the new WebApp, Workflow Automations System (WAS) project, and the 
refurbishment of new office space.  The prime intention of the WebApp is to empower social welfare 
users in submitting their feedback about service providers in a user-friendly manner, and with the 
possibility of doing so anonymously.  At the pilot phase, feedback was accepted only on residential 
services for older persons, including aspects of infrastructure, management, food, care, and staff 
amongst others; however, feedback was eventually also expanded to a wider spectrum of social welfare 
services.  

The second project – the WAS – revolved around a fully digitalised system to facilitate the SCSA’s 
licensing process both to potential service providers and the Licensing Unit within the Quality 
Assurance Directorate.  Furthermore, in 2021, this Unit completed the first phase of the refurbishment 
project of the new offices within the same building in Santa Venera that hosts the Authority’s offices.  
Most of the employees were relocated to the newly refurbished offices.  Work on the second phase of 
the refurbishment project started towards the end of 2021 and is expected to be completed in 2022.

We #StandWithOlderPersons and accept #PurpleDotChallenge
to raise Awareness and Prevention of Elder Abuse
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QUALITY ASSURANCE
DIRECTORATE 

Licensing Unit

Throughout the year under review, the Licensing Unit continued to focus its attention on the processing 
of both new applications and license renewals.  This Unit continued strengthening its governance and 
introduced a more diligent onboarding process. Furthermore, new policies and procedures were put 
into place to ensure that the reviews carried out by the Licensing Unit are both efficient and effective.

The Licensing Unit initiated the eForms project.  This project is intended to introduce a digital license 
application system which includes the formulation of a holistic application covering the full range 
of licenses applicable to new and existing service providers. This system will facilitate the licensing 
process for all type of applications, including applications for new, renewal, emergency, and temporary 
licenses.  Since this system is envisaged for use by a vast range of service providers with different 
set-ups and resources, an emphasis is being put on the user-friendliness of the system.  The system 
shall be available in both Maltese and English. Currently this project is in the testing phase and it is 
projected to be launched during 2022. 
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SECTORS NUMBERS OF SERVICES

SENIOR CITIZENS 113

CHILDREN 35

ADOPTIONS AND FOSTERING 4

ADULTS 56

DISABILITY 57

OTHERS 51

TOTAL 316

Figure 4: Licenses by sector

The Licensing Unit gave its input in the review of the Quality Tools used by the Authority.  The Quality 
Tool is used during the audits carried out by all three units within the Quality Assurance Directorate, 
namely the Licensing, Inspectorate and Enforcement Unit and developed on the basis of the Regulatory 
Standards.  The end-product of this exercise will lead to a more streamlined and effective process in 
all the above three units.

As at the end of 2021, the Licensing Unit had a total of 316 licensed services, 310 of which are full licenses.  
There were also 3 temporary licenses and another 3 emergency licenses. The active licenses referred 
to above include both services which were licensed for the first time during 2021 and renewed licenses. 

The above figure details the active licenses by sector. Besides requiring a different licensing and 
monitoring process each sector entails a different Social Regulatory Standard. Figure 5: Services by Sector 2019 - 2021

Figure 6: Services by Sector 2021
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Throughout 2021, this Unit issued formal letters to service providers containing action required to 
address shortcomings identified by the Inspectorate and Enforcement Units during their visits. A total 
of 312 letters were issued during 2021, containing 1,405 action points, 416 of which relate to infection 
control visits. 

The shortcomings identified during the audit visits are categorised according to the nature and 
seriousness of the issue together with the ease with which these can be addressed by the service provider.   
In such cases, the service provider is required to take immediate action to rectify shortcomings which 
are of an urgent nature and can in practice be addressed.

There are also instances where although the matter is relatively urgent and serious, it is recognised 
that the solution may not be straight forward.  In this case the service provider is instructed to give 
within a stipulated timeframe an action plan as to how the matter is to be rectified. A date for a follow-
up visit is also indicated in the letter.

Shortcomings identified are classified in four categories according to their nature which include:

 • Environment and Structure: health and safety, cleanliness, ambient temperature, accessibility, 
  elevators, bedrooms, bathrooms.
 • Quality Care: care plan, rights of service users, food preparation and service, feedback, 
  administration of medication.
 • Service Management: Staff ratio, type of services, communication barriers, policies, 
  documentation.
 • Organised Activities
 • Infection Control 

Figure 7 below provides a summary of the action points identified by the Inspectorate and Enforcement 
Units as instructed to all service providers sorted by sectors. 

TYPE OF SERVICE
ENVIRONMENTAL/ 

STRUCTURAL
QUALITY 

CARE
SERVICE 

MANAGEMENT
ORGANISED 
ACTIVITIES

INFECTION 
CONTROL

TOTAL 
NUMBER OF 

SHORTCOMINGS

RESIDENTIAL SERVICES 

FOR SENIOR CITIZENS
245 230 430 25 298 1228

RESIDENTIAL HIGH DEPENDENCY 

CHRONIC CARE SERVICES FOR 

SENIOR CITIZENS

0 1 2 0 0 3

ACTIVE AGEING CENTRES 19 0 3 0 11 33

RESPITE SERVICES FOR SENIOR 

CITIZENS LIVING WITH DEMENTIA
0 0 4 0 0 4

RESIDENTIAL SERVICES FOR 

CHILDREN IN ALTERNATIVE CARE 

(UNDER THE AGE OF 18 YEARS)

7 2 6 0 48 63

SHELTER FOR ADULTS 1 0 1 0 0 2

RESIDENTIAL SERVICES FOR 

PERSONS WITH DISABILITY
3 5 4 0 59 71

RESPITE SERVICES FOR PERSONS 

WITH DISABILITY
0 0 1 0 0 1

TOTAL 275 238 451 25 416 1405

Figure 7: Action points by sector 

The COVID-19 situation required particular attention to the implementation of restrictions which came 
into force under the direction of the Public Health Authorities.  During the year 2021, the SCSA issued 
416 action points in relation to infection control measures in consultation with the Public Health. The 
Authority also issued various circulars to the licensed service providers to assist in the mitigation of 
the COVID-19 spread. 

72% of the recommendations were issued in relation to residential services for senior citizens, reflecting 
the immunocompromisation of the residents in care homes.

The number of infection control shortcomings identified during 2021 as expected decreased 
considerably when compared to the number issued in 2020 by 77%.  The main driver of this reduction 
was two-fold:

 • The SCSA introduced a pilot exercise based on a traffic light approach in relation to the follow-
  up visits carried out which ensured implementation of the action points provided; 
 • The response of the service providers was very positive and an overall improvement in  
  adherence to the infection control measures was the outcome.

The infection control exercise was then conducted in other services including the Day Centres for 
Persons with Disability, Residential services for Children in Alternative Care, and Day Centres for Senior 
Citizens.    The SCSA saw a significant overall improvement of 22% in the mitigation of infection control 
spread by the end of year 2021 where majority of the licensed service providers fully comply with the 
preventive measures. 

The traffic lights approach also contributed to the identification of new areas for improvement towards 
the overall wellbeing of service users. 

Inspectorate Unit

During the first months of 2021, the Social Care Standards Authority allocated most of its efforts to 
coordinate the rollout of the national COVID-19 vaccination programme across residents and staff in 
social welfare services, starting with residential services for senior citizens. Although the Inspectorate 
Unit played a critical role in the management and administration of the vaccination process, they also 
continued to carry out routine visits of social welfare services.

Once the vaccination exercise started winding down, the team embarked on new projects.  During 
the summer of 2021, the Inspectorate Unit carried out a series of exercises at the licensed Residential 
Services for Persons with Disability to assess their conformity with the relevant Social Regulatory 
Standards established by the Authority. 

The Unit also analysed the care practices within Residential Homes for Senior Citizens to ensure that 
residents’ care plans are kept up to date and that the practices employed by the service providers 
are in line with the newly launched Social Regulatory Standards. The shortcomings identified were 
followed up by the Inspectorate Unit to ensure conformity.

October 2021 saw the start of the license renewal process of most of the Residential Services for Senior 
Citizens. The process was aligned with the new Social Regulatory Standard which was now in place. 
This was carried out in conjunction with the ongoing monitoring and feedback visits. 

Throughout 2021, the Inspectorate Unit was involved in 1,719 inspection visits, which included visits 
related to licensing, monitoring, feedback and investigations. The type of visit can vary; actual visits 
taking place on location at the premises where the service is being provided; virtual visits taking 
place through video conferencing, a method which was introduced by the Authority at the start of the 
pandemic; and joint visits taking place on location in conjunction with members of the Enforcement 
Unit. Figure 8 shows the visits carried out by the Inspectorate Unit analysed by sector and by type of 
visit.
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SECTORS ACTUAL VIRTUAL COLLABORATED TOTAL

SENIOR CITIZENS 859 201 109 1169

CHILDREN 94 0 19 113

ADOPTIONS 3 0 0 3

ADULTS 90 6 16 112

DISABILITY 207 2 42 251

OTHERS 59 0 12 71

TOTAL 1312 209 198 1719

Figure 8: Inspectorate visits

Figure 9: Inspectorate visits by type of visit and category.

As can be noted from Figure 8, 1521 were actual visits carried out by the Inspectorate Unit and 
collaboratively with the Enforcement Unit. This represents 88% of the total visits, whereas 968 actual 
visits were carried out at services in the Senior Citizens sector.   
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Figure 11: Feedback cases per channel used to report cases

Figure 10: Number and types of feedback received

Feedback on Social Welfare Services

The Authority embraces continuous communication with all stakeholders to facilitate its efforts to 
address any concerns which may arise within the licensed social welfare sector.  This is also in line with 
the Authority’s vision, that of ‘empowering service users’.

The nature of such feedback cases received by the Authority varies and can range from concerns about 
services to praise staff working at social welfare services for their professionalism.

In the case of negative feedback, thorough details are requested from the person contacting the 
Authority and a case is opened. Being the largest licensed sector by the SCSA, the highest number of 
the feedback received, derived from the Senior Citizens sector, with the most frequent concern being 
the quality of care being provided.

A total of 302 feedback cases were received by the Authority in 2021; some of these cases required an 
onsite visit by the Inspectorate Unit or the Enforcement Unit to investigate the matter. Other cases 
were closed over the phone or via email as the nature of such feedback were minor.  Figure 10 below 
shows the feedback cases by type. 

TYPE OF FEEDBACK NUMBER OF FEEDBACK CASES

TELEPHONE 132

EMAIL 130

SOCIAL MEDIA 18

OTHER 22

TOTAL 302

TYPE OF FEEDBACK NUMBER OF FEEDBACK CASES

SERVICE MANAGEMENT 88

QUALITY CARE 168

ENVIRONMENT/STRUCTURE 37

ORGANISED ACTIVITIES 9

TOTAL 302

During 2021, most feedback cases submitted to the Authority for investigation were related to the level 
of quality of the care the service user received. Quality care includes concerns relating to care plans, 
rights of service users, food preparation and service and the administration of medication.

Telephone and email remain the preferred mode of contacting the SCSA.  The Authority is exploring 
other possible the channels through which it can be contacted.  The Authority is also embarking on 
a promotional campaign to raise awareness. 7% of the feedback was received from other channels of 
communication including meetings and mail.

In 2021, 45% of the visits by the Inspectorate Unit were routine monitoring visits to ensure that the 
services are in line with the Social Regulatory Standards. During vaccine visits, the assessors monitored 
the vaccination process which was taking place at the residential care homes which amount to 329 
visits. 410 visits were in relation to the licensing process while 216 visits related to the feedback received.
 
The Inspectorate Unit conducted a total of 1,719 visits across the whole year, where an average of 130 
visits per month were carried out, seeing the busiest month of the year being October 2021. 
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Enforcement Unit

During the year 2021, the Enforcement Unit carried out a total of 433 visits across the social welfare 
sector, 198 of which were joint visits with Assessors from the Inspectorate Unit. In the first six months 
of the year, most of the visits by members of this Unit were related to COVID-19. 

Periodically, the Enforcement Unit also received reports (through feedback or following audit visits by 
the Inspectorate Unit) which were of a more serious nature. Where the Enforcement Unit’s investigations 
resulted in prima facie suspicions of abuse, these cases were referred to the Executive Police. In total, 
six such cases were referred to the police in 2021. All the cases reviewed during 2021 were successfully 
concluded. 

REPORTS

1,697

5,358

1,405 302 1,954

RECOMMENDATIONS FEEDBACK 
CASES

VISITS

QUALITY ASSURANCE TOTAL ACTIONS

Figure 12: Accomplishments within the Quality Assurance Directorate in 2021.
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INTERNATIONAL AFFILIATIONS 

The Authority believes that collaboration with 
international affiliations is critical in order 
to expose itself to new methodologies and 
frameworks applied by other European social 
welfare regulators.  

European Partnership for Supervisory 
Organisations in Health Services and Social 
Care (EPSO) 

The SCSA attended the European Partnership 
for Supervisory Organisations in Health 
Services and Social Care (EPSO) conferences 
on a monthly basis throughout 2021, during 
which the SCSA gave regular updates about the 
COVID-19 situation in long-term care facilities in 
Malta while also expanding on the SCSA’s role 
during the pandemic.  Through these meetings, 
the Authority had also the opportunity to share 
information and experiences related to the 
social welfare sector with international partners 
who work in a similar setting. 

The EPSO is composed of a group of 
organisations across the European continent 
whose aims are to work together and share 
knowledge to achieve the following: 

 • refining the quality of health and social 
  care in European countries; 
 • encouraging the communication between 
  regulators and service providers to 
  improve exchange of ideas, outcome of 
  research, information, and good practice; 
 • promoting the cooperation of members 
  on topics such as education; and
 • sharing of knowledge between members.   

During the meetings, Malta was also praised for 
the satisfactory coordination and control on the 
COVID-19 whilst keeping the users’ welfare care 
at the core of its priority.

During the meetings, Malta was also praised for 
the satisfactory coordination and control on the 
COVID-19 whilst keeping the users’ welfare care 
at the core of its priority.

International Foundation for Integrated Care 
(IFIC)

The Social Care Standard Authority forms part 
of the IFIC. This global foundation aims to unite 
people in advancing the science, knowledge, 
and implementation of integrated care policy, 
and improving the overall effectiveness and 
sustainability of care systems to improve 
people’s wellbeing. It also supports a network 
of global participants to collaborate, share 
knowledge, and discuss the latest ideas around 
integrated care.

In 2021 Dr Angele Ellul Fenech participated 
virtually in international conferences organised 
by the IFIC to discuss the challenges faced 
during the pandemic and the achievements 
in vaccinating the vast majority of the most 
vulnerable within our society. The SCSA also 
presented the newly launched Regulatory 
Standards for Senior Citizens in residential 
homes and those related to dementia. 

Our Contribution to Society 

Besides the valuable contribution that the SCSA 
provides through its core functions, during the 
year 2021 the Authority initiated new internal 
social projects as part of the social responsibility 
obligation towards the Maltese society. 

In the latter half of 2021, the employees of the 
SCSA came together to raise awareness on 
Huntington's disease; a rare, inherited disease 
which affects a person’s functional abilities, 
causing a gradual deterioration in physical, 
mental, and behavioural abilities. 

The employees at SCSA participated to raise 
funds in aid of a service which offers support 
to people diagnosed with Huntington’s disease. 
This initiative also continued during 2022, 
with the aim of kickstarting more initiatives 
throughout the upcoming year. 
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“I WILL BE FOREVER 
GRATEFUL TO THE SOCIAL 
CARE STANDARDS AUTHORITY” 

The SCSA Reunites Mother and Daughter After 53 years
 
The Authority played an essential role in an extraordinary story of a mother 
and daughter who reunited after many years. In 2021, a woman approached the 
Malta Central Authority to seek help finding her mother, who had given her up for 
adoption fifty-four years earlier.  

Extracts of the original letter received by the SCSA is reproduced hereunder. Identifiable information 
was changed to protect their privacy. 

CARMEN
 
I was adopted over fifty years ago when I was 
three months old. I lived a happy life and my 
adoptive parents raised me well. However, the 
thought of being adopted was always on my 
mind, especially close to my birthday. After 
my adoptive parents passed away, I decided it 
was finally time to start looking for my mother. 
I was referred to the Malta Central Authority 
within the Social Care Standards Authority. 
The team at the Malta Central Authority 
immediately started working on my case as I 
patiently waited for news. 
 
A month passed, and I finally received the 
long-awaited phone call from the Authority. 
My heart skipped a beat when they informed 
me that they had found my mother after an 
extensive investigation. They informed me 
that my mother wanted to meet me that very 
morning. 
 
I could not believe my eyes when I saw my 
mother entering the room. I felt like I was in a 
dream, I could hardly believe that my mother 
was there, sitting right in front of me.
 
I will be forever grateful to the Social Care 
Standards Authority employees for their work 
on my case.  Thanks to them, I was able to turn 
my dream into a reality and meet the person 
who gave me life. 

CARMEN'S MOTHER 

I received an unexpected call from the Malta 
Central Authority requesting a meeting to 
discuss a personal matter.  When we met, 
after requesting some of my personal details, 
they explained that they got in touch with me 
because they had news about a baby I had 
given up for adoption over fifty years ago. 

At that moment, I felt as if the world around 
me was on the brink of collapse, and I broke 
down crying. This baby, now an adult, wanted 
to know who her mother was. I could feel 
the excitement swirling within me, but I was 
unable to find the words to answer. 

When I was at home, I could not eat, and 
I could not sleep. I had thought about my 
daughter all my life, wondering what kind of 
life she had and if she was doing well. I spent 
long days pondering the situation, and I finally 
decided that I wanted to meet her. 

I will never forget my reunion with my daughter. 
It was such a beautiful moment; I could not 
believe I had finally met my daughter after all 
these years. We rejoiced in having found each 
other again. 

I had spent my whole life thinking about the 
child, and now that I had found her again, I felt 
that the void in my heart had finally been filled.
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Forming part of the national fight against the pandemic

AS THE SCSA QUIETLY PERSEVERED IN ITS MISSION, IT EARNED THE TRUST 
AND COOPERATION OF THE PUBLIC BECAUSE IT PROVIDED A SENSE OF RELIEF 
AND HOPE FOR A NEW BEGINNING FOR ALL THE VULNERABLE GROUPS IN 
THE COMMUNITY.  

The global COVID-19 pandemic also left its mark on the Maltese Islands and on the Authority. During 
the first months of 2021, the SCSA formed part of the national fight against the virus through a series of 
contributions; assisting the Public Health by coordinating and distributing the COVID-19 vaccinations 
and booster doses to residential services, distributing swab kits to all licensed residential services 
and assisting service providers to manage and contain the spread of the in residential homes.  During 
the first six months of 2021, the SCSA hosted a vaccination hub within Bugeia Institute which was used 
as part of the national effort to ensure that all the population received the first and second vaccine 
doses in the shortest time possible.  Similarly, the Authority also supported in the distribution of the 
influenza vaccine during the month of November.
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Swabbing Exercise

The Authority continued to partake in the swabbing exercise in 2021 to support vulnerable persons 
who make use of services which are licensed by the SCSA, an endeavour which was undertaken 
in collaboration with residential homes. The regular swabbing which was initiated in 2020 as a 
preventative measure continued until February 2021. During this exercise, both service users and 
employees working in social welfare services were swabbed on a regular basis. After February 2021, 
swabs were issued on an emergency basis according to exigencies. In total, 21,310 swabs were issued 
through the SCSA in 2021. 

Vaccination Exercise 

In January 2021, the Authority commenced the dissemination of COVID-19 vaccines in collaboration 
with the Health Authorities and by March 2021, all senior citizens who were able to take the vaccine 
had received their first dose. The Authority also aided in the vaccination of both staff and service 
users in the social welfare sector, especially residential services, which included, inter alia, Senior 
Citizens, People with Disability, Children in Alternative Care, and Individuals with problems related 
to substance abuse and other dependencies.  To date, the SCSA still coordinates the collection and 
vaccination of the few remaining senior citizens who require their first or second dose, or even their 
booster doses. In total, the Authority coordinated the dissemination of 20,560 vaccines by end of 
2021. 

Vaccination Hub

To support the Public Health Authorities and Maltese population, the Authority temporarily offered 
its staff and premises between April and June 2021 to assist in the vaccination process for the general 
public. The Authority, with support from Health Authorities and the Active Ageing Community Care, 
had all necessary equipment, staff, and clinical knowledge to ensure the smooth running of the Hub, 
which included a reconstitution team that was tasked with preparing the doses for administration. 
This endeavour required the preparation of the Authority’s premises to be able to accommodate 
the public for this process and the allocation of a large part of the SCSA’s workforce to manage 
the process. This included the administration of the vaccinations, registrations, and paperwork 
involved in the vaccination drive.   Between April and June 2021, the Bugeia Institute Vaccination Hub 
administered 26,255 vaccine doses. 

Booster Exercise 

The Authority once again coordinated the dissemination of the booster doses amongst residential 
services in September 2021 and within two weeks, all senior citizens who were able to take the 
booster were vaccinated. To date, the Authority still coordinates dissemination of vaccines in smaller 
numbers as required, and by the end of 2021, it had distributed 5,348 booster shots.

Influenza Vaccine

The Authority was also involved in the dissemination of the influenza vaccine in November 2021 across 
all licensed residential services. This dissemination was carried out in collaboration with Primary 
Health Care and a total of 7,929 vaccines were disseminated to residents and staff of residential 
services across all social welfare sectors. 
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FUTURE OUTLOOK

The SCSA is looking towards the future with determination to continue regulating the social welfare 
sector in a just manner, while ensuring that service users receive the level of care and quality that 
they deserve. Its vision is to strive for excellence in welfare services by empowering users and 
inspiring service providers and to reach new horizons. To achieve this vision, the Authority, through 
its Directorates, is strengthening its operations on four pillars:

 SIMPLIFICATION OPERATIONS
GOVERNANCE INITIATIVES &

NEW PROJECTS

Legal and Governance Directorate

The Legal and Governance Directorate shall continue providing legal assistance to the Authority 
while ensuring that the units under this Directorate's remit continue developing and exploring 
avenues for improvement allowing the Authority to continue growing in its knowledge and expertise.

Throughout 2022, it will continue its work on simplification of Data Management and revising the 
existing Quality Tools.  This Unit shall also continue with the monitoring of the Authority’s processes 
and procedures. From a governance perspective the Directorate will continue working with the 
relevant stakeholders to refine the current Social Regulatory Standards and establish new ones 
where applicable.

In 2022, the Litigation and Mediation Unit will focus on identifying partnerships with European 
and international social welfare entities in regulation, accreditation, research, and training. These 
collaborations will be essential for:

 • networking and sharing of knowledge about Social Regulatory Standards;
 • enhancing cooperation with peers across borders; and 
 • finding the equilibrium between the social reality and the regulation to ensure the well-
  being of service users and any other citizens.

In addition, the Unit will lead the SCSA's process in recommending new policies whilst refining 
the existing ones and formulating any strategies or policies as deemed necessary in social welfare 
services. 

The Standards Unit will address any identified gaps in the existing Social Regulatory Standards 
established by the Social Care Standards Authority. This will be achieved by revising the currently 
published Standards and developing new Standards using risk-based approach. In line with the 
"SCSA Strategy 2020-2027, Striving for Excellence", the Unit will conduct a training needs analysis to 
improve the Unit performance quality.

The newly established Compliance and Governance Unit will support the Legal and Governance 
Directorate by ensuring that the Authority complies with relevant legislation whilst embracing good 
corporate Governance through best practices and ethics. As part of the Authority's plan to identify 
gaps, risks, and non-conformities within the SCSA's workflow, the Unit will design and implement an 
auditing system along with respective tools and procedures.

Recognising the importance of proper records management, the Authority during 2021 established 
the Documentary Unit to create and implement a new document management strategy. The Unit will 
continue focusing on implementing new filing procedures and new coding systems and conducting 
training and informational sessions for staff about records management tools.
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Quality Assurance Directorate 

The structure of the Operational Plan of the Quality Assurance Directorate for 2022 has been aligned 
with that of the Authority and it includes sections for all the four pillars namely: simplification, 
governance, operations and new projects and initiatives.

The Quality Assurance Directorate will continue exploring new avenues through collaboration with 
new partners and stakeholders whilst strengthening existing relationships with other regulatory 
bodies. This will ensure that the re-regulation concept remains dynamic. 

Hence the Licensing Unit will strive to convert the current manual processes to a digital system to 
integrate the processes adopted within the same Unit whilst finalising the E-forms project with the 
collaboration of other external partners. As a 2021 project, the E-forms system shall be migrating 
the current license applications to a digital format which shall see a simplified process to 316 
service providers whilst increasing internal efficiency using automated backend.   In this manner 
the prospective and existing service providers would be able to access a secure portal through 
which applications for all types of new licenses and renewals can be submitted where data provided 
is handled in line with the GDPR.  In addition, the applicants would be able to upload documents 
required as part of the application process on the portal and they can also monitor the progress of 
their application. 

The Inspectorate Unit shall introduce a streamlined approach for the regular audit visits in order to 
evenly distribute the assessments carried out within all the licensed services within the audit plan.  
This Unit shall continue with the enhancement of the Quality Tool to render the SCSA’s core function 
more effective and efficient.

The Enforcement Unit will continue to follow up on the action points issued by the Authority’s 
Licensing which shall ensure that such action points are being implemented by service providers. 
The Enforcement Unit will be strengthening its strategy to improve the investigation of high risk 
rated cases and liaise with other Authorities to address such cases whilst ensure adherence to the 
Social Regulatory Standards across all regulated and licensed by the Authority. 

All units within the Quality Assurance Directorate will conclude the exercise involving the development 
and review of a comprehensive set of policies and procedures to ensure good governance, invigorate 
collaborative platforms with other stakeholders in the sector, and engage with all other units within 
the Authority to help identify any gaps to address them adequately. 

The Directorate will review and enhance all its data management processes to ensure a timely and 
precise basis for analysis and a social intelligence-based response to identified issues. The Directorate 
also aims to enhance its co-operation with external actors and ensure knowledge sharing and the 
identification of best practices within the Authority whilst embarking on training projects for staff 
members.
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Operations Directorate

Similar to 2021, the Operations Directorate as the backbone of the Authority will remain committed 
to support the other two Directorates.  Firstly, it intends to continue focusing on the simplification 
of procedures to ensure a smooth running of the internal processes at the Authority.  This will be 
attained through further improvement of the technological systems used by the SCSA, specifically by 
exploiting the use of automated systems and project management applications.  From a governance 
perspective, this Directorate will continue to review existing policies and procedures of each Unit 
under its remit and implement new ones to continue building a more robust governance and internal 
control structure as required for SCSA’s regulatory function.

The Human Resources and External Relations Unit will be introducing new modules within the 
Human Resource system software, conducting capacity reviews, and organising adequate training 
programmes for staff.  New recruits are expected to join SCSA during 2022 across various Units and 
also form part of newly created Units for a business continuation aspect. Furthermore, it intends to 
organise international opportunities to expose service providers for best practices of foreign service 
providers and establish relations and collaborations with international stakeholders with regards to 
quality care, auditing, and standards. 

The Finance Unit intends to introduce new systems to help in the simplification and automation of 
financial processes, whilst remaining committed to issue management and statutory accounts in 
accordance with international accounting standards and applicable public accounting standards.  
It will also assist the Authority in tapping into funding opportunities.  This Unit shall continue to 
manage the budgetary process of the Authority 

The Procurement and Administration Unit will continue to ensure that the procurement process 
carried out by the SCSA is in line with internal policies.  Furthermore, it aims to promote green activity, 
and initiate a tender process for essential expertise services, whilst retaining an efficient consumable 
stock management system.

As a key pillar for accurate and timely data collection, the Social Intelligence Unit will continue 
overhauling of manual processes of the Authority. Work has already started in this regard and 
significant progress has already been made.  Furthermore, this Unit will identify any potential areas of 
research projects to increase an evidence-based approach leading to innovation in the social welfare 
sector, as well as establish 5D social intelligence models and business intelligence systems.  

The Information Technology Unit will be formally set up in order to expand its function.  This new 
Unit shall assist in implementing the Authority’s information technology systems, including the SIU 
analysis system, procurement system, documentary system, WAS, e-forms, and a revamped website 
amongst others.  It will also provide technical support in the development of technology projects.  
            
The Communications Unit will be implementing a new communications strategy to strengthen the 
Authority’s brand and continue to create awareness in the general public on the extensive work 
carried out by all the Units.  Facilitating communication with various stakeholders, increasing media 
coverage, and organising marketing campaigns remain key functions of this Unit.

The Project Management Facilities Unit will be spearheading the refurbishment of the Authority’s 
offices, as well as ensuring the constant maintenance of the building and health and safety practices to 
operate within a safe environment.  In addition, the Unit will be ensuring that the major technological 
projects are fully implemented. 

LOOKING 
FORWARD TO 
CONTINUE 
ENABLING AND 
INSPIRING 
change within a 
dynamic social 
welfare sector 
to ensure high 
quality service in 

the best interest 
of the society. 
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SOCIAL CARE STANDARDS AUTHORITY 
 Annual Report and Financial Statements - 31 December 2021 

 
 

 1 
 

Report of the members of the Board 
 
The members of the Board present their report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 
December 2021. 
 
Establishment of the Authority  
 
The Social Care Standards Authority was established by virtue of the Social Care Standards Authority Act 
(Cap. 582.) (the “Act”) as a regulatory body to establish regulatory standards, policies and guidelines for 
social welfare services and to enforce such standards as may be necessary to ensure a quality level of 
social welfare services, establish criteria for the granting, refusal, suspension or revocation of licences and 
to grant, refuse, suspend or revoke any licence. 
 
Performance review 
 
The results for the year are as shown in the statement of comprehensive income on page 8. During 2021, 
the Authority generated a surplus of €229,995 (2020: €243,305). 
 
Board members 
 
The Members of the Board who served during the year were: 
 
Chairperson 
Dr Katya De Giovanni 
 
Deputy Chairperson 
Ms Myriam Grech 
 
Members 
Prof. Marvin Formosa 
Dr Emanuel Bezzina 
Mr Anthony Attard 
Ms Priscilla Muscat 
Mr Ronnie Vella 
Dr Noel Bezzina  
 
Statement of responsibilities of the members of the Board for the financial statements 
 
The Social Care Standards Authority Act requires the Board members to prepare financial statements for 
each financial year which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Authority at the end of the 
financial year and of the income and expenditure of the Authority for that year and in accordance with the 
International Financial Reporting Standards, as adopted by the EU. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The results for the year are as shown in the statement of comprehensive income on page 86. During 2021,
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Independent auditors’ report 
To the Board members of Social Care Standards Authority 
 

 3 
 

Report on the audit of the financial statements 
Our Opinion 
 

 Social Care Standards Authority’s financial statements give a true and fair view 
of the Authority’s financial position as at 31 December 2021, and of the 
Authority’s financial performance in accordance with the International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU. 
 

What we have audited 
 
Social Care Standards Authority’s financial statements, set out on pages 7 to 24, 
comprise: 

 the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021; 
 the statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended; 
 the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended; 
 the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; 
 the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant 

accounting policies.  

 
Emphasis of Matter 
 
We draw attention to Notes 1.2 and 16, in relation to the events after balance sheet 
date, which addresses developments in connection with COVID-19, and the potential 
impact on financial and operational performance. This matter is considered to be of 
fundamental importance to the users of the study of the financial statements because 
of the potentially unfavourable nature of these developments, and the impact they 
could have on the basis of preparation of these financial statements. Our opinion is not 
modified in respect of this matter. 
 
Basis for Opinion  
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing 
(ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Independence 
 
We are independent of the Authority in accordance with the International Ethics 
Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA 
Code) together with the ethical requirements of the Accountancy Profession (Code of 
Ethics for Warrant Holders) Directive issued in terms of the Accountancy Profession Act 
(Cap. 281) that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Malta.  We have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. 
 
 
 

85 102,
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Independent auditors’ report 
To the Board members of Social Care Standards Authority 
 

 4 
 

Other information 
 
The Board is responsible for the other information.  The other information comprises 
the Report of the members of the Board on pages 1 and 2, and the Supplementary 
schedules on pages 25 and 26 (but does not include the financial statements and our 
auditors’ report thereon). 
 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information. 
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 
 
Responsibilities of the Board for the financial statements 
 
The Board is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true 
and fair view in accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as the Board 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, the Board is responsible for assessing the 
Authority’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the 
Board either intends to liquidate the Authority or to cease operations, or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion.  Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and 
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.  We also: 
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 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  The risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for 
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority's 
internal control.  

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the 
Board.  

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board’s use of the going concern basis 
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the Authority's ability to continue as a going concern.  If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ 
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures 
are inadequate, to modify our opinion.  Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report.  However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Authority to cease to continue as a going 
concern.  

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 

 
We communicate with the Board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 
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Report on any other legal and regulatory requirements  
 
Other matters on which we are required to report by exception 
 
We also have responsibilities to report to you if, in our opinion: 
 

 Adequate accounting records have not been kept, or that returns adequate for 
our audit have not been received from branches not visited by ourselves. 

 The financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and 
returns. 

 We have not received all the information and explanations we require for our 
audit.  

 Certain disclosures of the Board members’ remuneration specified by law are 
not made in the financial statements, giving the required particulars in our 
report. 

 
We have nothing to report to you in respect of these responsibilities. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Christian Gravina 
Director 
GCS Assurance Malta Limited 
Certified Public Accountants 
 
115A, Floor 1 
Msida Valley Road 
Birkirkara BKR 9024 
Malta 
 
 
15 March 2022 89 to 102 are an internal part of these financial statements.

83 to 100
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Statement of comprehensive income 
 
  Year ended 31 December 
          2021 2020 
 Notes € € 
    
Revenue 9 2,316,795 2,016,593 
Administrative expenses 10 (2,106,893) (2,150,655) 
        Operating surplus/(deficit)   209,902 (134,062) 
Other income 12 20,093 377,367 
        Surplus before tax  229,995 243,305 
Tax expense 13 - - 
        Surplus for the year - total comprehensive income  229,995 243,305 
        

The notes on pages 11 to 24 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
 
  

89 to 102 are an internal part of these financial statements.
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Statement of changes in equity 
 
   Accumulated  
   reserves Total 
    € € 
     
Balance at 1 January 2020   68,490 68,490 
     
Comprehensive income     
Surplus for the year   243,305 243,305 
          Balance at 31 December 2020   311,795 311,795 
               
Balance at 1 January 2021   311,795 311,795 
     
Comprehensive income     
Surplus for the year   229,995 229,995 
          Balance at 31 December 2021   541,790 541,790 
           

The notes on pages 11 to 24 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
 
  

89 to 102 are an internal part of these financial statements.
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Statement of cash flows 
 
  Year ended 31 December 
         Notes 2021 2020 
  € € 
    
Cash flows from operating activities    
Cash generated from operations 14 530,720 331,302 
        Net cash generated from operating activities  530,720 331,302 
            
Cash flows from investing activities    
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 5 (36,454) (74,173) 
        Net cash used in investing activities  (36,454) (74,173) 
            
Net movement in cash and cash equivalents  494,266 257,129 
    
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 7 340,077 82,948 
        Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 7 843,343 340,077 
         

The notes on pages 11 to 24 are an internal part of these financial statements. 
 
 
  

89 to 102 are an internal part of these financial statements.

SOCIAL CARE STANDARDS AUTHORITY 
 Annual Report and Financial Statements - 31 December 2021 

 

 11 
 

Notes to the financial statements 
 
1. Summary of significant accounting policies 

 
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these individual financial statements 
are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless 
otherwise stated. 
 
1.1 Basis of preparation 
 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU and in accordance with the requirements of the Social Care 
Standards Authority Act (Cap. 582.). The Authority’s financial statements have been prepared under 
the historical cost convention. 
 
During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Authority generated a surplus before tax of €229,995 
(2020: €243,305). 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs as adopted by the EU requires the 
use of certain accounting estimates. It also requires the Board to exercise their judgement in the 
process of applying the Authority’s accounting policies (See Note 3 - Critical accounting estimates 
and judgements). 

 
1.2 Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the Authority 
 
In early 2021 the existence of a new virus, known as COVID-19 was confirmed and since this time it 
has spread across the world. COVID-19 has caused disruption to business and economic activity 
across several countries and has led to significant mitigation measures from several Governments 
around the globe. 
 
As at the date of issue of these financial statements, the Authority’s activities were directly affected 
due to the COVID-19 outbreak and the subsequent government-imposed restrictions through the 
assistance provided to the Public Health Authorities by the Social Care Standards Authority.  
 
1.2.1 Impact on the Authority’s financial position and results of operations for the year ended 2021 

 
As a result of the pandemic and following the directives from the health authorities, the Authority had 
an increase in expenditure in certain areas, including materials and supplies, transport, and overtime.  
A relatively substantial amount was spent on sanitizing materials, PEPs and packaging material at 
the time when SCSA was coordinating the swabbing of residents and staff members of care homes 
for senior citizens.  Furthermore, the Authority’s premises were established as a Vaccination Hub for 
the general public during which time more than 26,000 vaccines were administered.  The Vaccination 
Hub exercise caused an increase in other expenses like security services and the hire of tents. 
 
On the other hand, a substantial amount was saved in other areas, including travel, events, and 
publications among others.  The slowing down of the staff recruitment programme also led to a 
significantly lower spend on personal emoluments than originally budgeted.  With regards to 
operations, since for a time the Authority’s operations were more focused on the Vaccination Hub 
and the swabbing exercise, certain aspects of the day-to-day operations have somewhat slowed 
down.  These include compliance visits to residential care homes and staff training. 
 
Overall, as can be seen from the resulting surplus at the end of the year the financial impact of COVID-
19 on the financial performance of the Authority was a favourable one. 
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies - continued 

 
1.2 Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic - continued 
 
1.2.2 Existing and new measures to be implemented by the Authority 
 
The Authority has implemented various measures throughout 2021 in order to continue providing 
most of its services while abiding to the current COVID-19 restrictions issued by the health authorities. 
Such measures include teleworking on a full-time basis for a number of staff members in line with the 
direction given by the Principal Permanent Secretary. 
 
1.2.3 Demand for the Authority’s services  
 
The demand for the Authority’s services with respect to swabbing and vaccination was as predicted, 
since the demand for such services was predicted to be high. Once the population is vaccinated and 
herd immunity is achieved the demand for the services are expected to dwindle particularly following 
the closure of the Vaccination Hub in June 2021. The management are assuming that the above 
rationale also applies to the swabbing services provided.  
  
As the current circumstances are everchanging, the Board is constantly monitoring the situation and 
believes that the current situation will not affect the Authority’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
Furthermore, the Board firmly believes that once the pandemic is over, the Authority will return to the 
same levels of operations as in previous years. 
 
Accordingly, these financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. 
 
1.3 Foreign currency translation 
 
(a) Functional and presentation currency 
 
Items included in the financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). The financial statements are 
presented in euro, which is the Authority’s functional and presentation currency. 

  
(b) Transactions and balances 
 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates 
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are remeasured. Foreign 
exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation 
at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
recognised in surplus or deficit. 
 
1.4 Property, plant and equipment  
 
The Social Care Standards Authority’s (“Authority”) property, plant and equipment are classified into 
the following classes – furniture and fittings, office equipment, computer equipment and computer 
software. 
 
Property, plant and equipment are initially measured at cost. Subsequent costs are included in the 
asset’s carrying amount when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item 
will flow to the Authority and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. Expenditure on repairs 
and maintenance of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an expense when incurred. 
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1.       Summary of significant accounting policies - continued 
 

1.4 Property, plant and equipment - continued  
 

Property, plant and equipment are derecognised on disposal or when no future economic benefits 
are expected from their use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition represent the 
difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount, and are included in 
profit and loss in the period of derecognition. 
 
Depreciation commences in the year when the depreciable assets are available for use and is 
charged to profit and loss so as to write off the cost less any estimated residual value, over their 
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method, on the following bases: 
 
 

 Years 
  

Furniture and Fittings 10 
Office equipment 5 
Computer equipment 5 
Computer software 4 

 
The depreciation method applied, the residual value and the useful life are reviewed, and adjusted if 
appropriate, at the end of the financial reporting period. 

 
1.5 Impairment of non-financial assets 
 
Non-financial assets that are subject to amortisation and depreciation are reviewed for impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable.  An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount 
exceeds its recoverable amount.  The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less 
costs to sell and value in use.  For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the 
lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).  Non-
financial assets that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the 
end of each reporting period. 

 
1.6 Financial assets 
 
1.6.1 Classification 

 
All recognised financial assets that are within the scope of IFRS 9 are required to be measured 
subsequently at amortised cost or fair value on the basis of the entity’s business model for managing 
the financial assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets.  

 
The Authority classifies its financial assets in the following categories: at amortised cost, fair value 
through other comprehensive income or fair value through profit and loss. 

 
 debt instruments held within a business model whose objective is to hold to collect 

contractual cashflows are measured at amortised cost; 
 debt instruments that are held within a business model whose objective is both to collect the 

contractual cash flows and to sell the debt instruments, and that have contractual cash flows 
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding, are 
measured subsequently at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI);  
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1.      Summary of significant accounting policies - continued 

 
1.6 Financial assets - continued  

 
1.6.1 Classification - continued 
 

 all other debt investments and equity investments are measured subsequently at fair value 
through profit or loss (FVTPL).  

 
1.6.2 Recognition and measurement 
 
The Authority recognises a financial asset in its statement of financial position when it becomes a 
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Regular way purchases and sales of financial 
assets are recognised on settlement date, which is the date on which an asset is delivered to or by 
the Authority. Any change in fair value for the asset to be received is recognised between the trade 
date and settlement date in respect of assets which are carried at fair value in accordance with the 
measurement rules applicable to the respective financial assets. 
 
Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs. Subsequently they are 
measured according to their classification as details in Note 1.6.1. Under IAS 39, loans and 
receivables were subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.  
Amortised cost is the initial measurement amount adjusted for the amortisation of any difference 
between the initial and maturity amounts using the effective interest method. 

 
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets 
have expired or have been transferred and the Authority has transferred substantially all risks and 
rewards of ownership or has not retained control of the asset.   
 
1.6.3 Impairment 
 
In relation to the impairment of financial assets, IFRS 9 requires an expected credit loss model as 
opposed to an incurred credit loss model under IAS 39. The expected credit loss model requires the 
Authority to account for expected credit losses and changes in those expected credit losses at each 
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the financial assets. In other 
words, it is no longer necessary for a credit event to have occurred before credit losses are 
recognised.  

 
Specifically, IFRS 9 requires the Authority to recognise a loss allowance for expected credit losses 
on:  
 

 Debt investments measured subsequently at amortised cost or at FVTOCI; 
 Lease receivables; 
 Trade receivables and contract assets; and  
 Financial guarantee contracts to which the impairment requirements of IFRS 9 apply.  

 
In particular, IFRS 9 requires the Authority to measure the loss allowance for a financial instrument 
at an amount equal to the lifetime expected credit losses (ECL) if the credit risk on that financial 
instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, or if the financial instrument is a 
purchased or originated credit-impaired financial asset. However, if the credit risk on a financial 
instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition (except for a purchased or 
originated credit-impaired financial asset), the Authority is required to measure the loss allowance for 
that financial instrument at an amount equal to 12-months ECL. IFRS 9 also requires a simplified 
approach for measuring the loss allowance at an amount equal to lifetime ECL for trade receivables, 
contract assets and lease receivables in certain circumstances. 
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies - continued 
 

1.7 Receivables 
 

Receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method, less provision for impairment (Note 1.6.3).  The carrying amount of the 
asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the amount of the loss is recognised 
in profit or loss.  When a receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account for 
trade and other receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited 
against profit or loss. 

 
1.8 Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the statement of financial position at face value.  Cash and 
cash equivalents include cash deposits held at call with banks and cash in hand. 
 
1.9 Financial liabilities 
 
The Authority recognises a financial liability in its statement of financial position when it becomes a 
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. The Authority’s financial liabilities are classified 
as financial liabilities which are not at fair value through profit or loss (classified as ‘Other liabilities’) 
under IFRS 9.  Financial liabilities not at fair value through profit or loss are recognised initially at fair 
value, being the fair value of consideration received, net of transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or the issue of the financial liability. These liabilities are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost.   
 
The Authority derecognises a financial liability from its statement of financial position when the 
obligation specified in the contract or arrangement is discharged, is cancelled or expires. 

 
1.10 Trade and other payables 
 
Trade and other payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the 
ordinary course of business from suppliers.  Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if 
payment is due within one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer).  If 
not, they are presented as non-current liabilities. 
 
Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

 
1.11 Offsetting financial instruments 
 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial 
position when there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an 
intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
 
1.12 Revenue recognition 
 
In 2018, the Authority has applied IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (as amended in 
April 2016) which was effective for an annual period that begins on or after 1 January 2018. IFRS 15 
introduced a 5-step approach to revenue recognition. 
 
IFRS 15 uses the terms ‘contract asset’ and ‘contract liability’ to describe what might more commonly 
be known as ‘accrued revenue’ and ‘deferred revenue’, however the Standard does not prohibit an 
entity from using alternative descriptions in the statement of financial position. 
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. 
1. Summary of significant accounting policies - continued 

 
1.12 Revenue recognition - continued 

 
The application of IFRS 15 had not had a significant impact on the financial position and/or financial 
performance of the Authority. 
 
Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer and 
excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties and discounts. The Authority recognises 
revenue when it transfers control over a product to a customer.  

 
(a) Revenue from penalties. 
(b) Subventions available to cover recurrent expenditure are reflected in the income and expenditure 

account of the Social Car Standards Authority. 
 
Revenue from the Government of Malta budget is recognised on a cash basis on date of receipt. 

 
2. Financial risk management 
 

2.1 Financial risk factors 
 

The Authority’s activities potentially expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including 
currency risk, fair value interest rate risk and cash flow interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. 
The Authority’s overall risk management focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and 
seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Authority’s financial performance. The Authority 
did not make use of derivative financial instruments to hedge certain risk exposures during the current 
and preceding financial years. 

 
(a) Market risk 
 
(i) Foreign exchange risk 
 
Foreign currency transactions arise when the Authority buys or sells goods whose price is 
denominated in a foreign currency, or occurs or settle liabilities, denominated in a foreign currency. 
The risk arising from foreign currency transactions is managed by regular monitoring of the relevant 
exchange rates, and management’s reaction to material movements thereto. 

 
(ii) Interest rate risk 
 
The Authority is currently not exposed to cash flow interest rate risk. 

 
(b) Credit risk 
 
Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents and credit exposures to customers, including 
outstanding receivables and committed transactions. The Authority’s exposures to credit risk as at 
the end of the reporting periods are analysed as follows: 
 
 2021 2020 
 € € 
   
Loans and receivables categories:   
  Receivables (Note 6) 40,236 - 
  Cash and cash equivalents (Note 7) 834,344 340,077 
       874,580 340,077 
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2. Financial risk management - continued 
 

2.1 Financial risk factors - continued 
 
(b)  Credit risk - continued 

 
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period in respect of the financial 
assets mentioned above is equivalent to their carrying amount as disclosed in the respective notes 
to the financial statements. The Authority does not hold any collateral as security in this respect. 

 
(c) Liquidity risk 
 
The Authority monitors and manages its risk to a shortage of funds by maintaining sufficient cash and 
by monitoring the availability of raising funds to meet commitments associated with financial 
instruments and by maintaining adequate banking facilities.  

 
2.2 Capital risk management 
 
The Authority’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going 
concern. 
 
The primary objective of the Authority’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong 
credit rating and healthy capital ratios in order to support its operations. 
 
The capital structure of the Authority consists of cash and cash equivalents as disclosed in Note 7 
and items presented within the accumulated reserve in the statement of financial position. The 
Authority’s Board manages the Authority’s capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of 
changes in economic conditions. 
 

3.       Critical accounting estimates and judgements  
 
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and based on historical experience and other 
factors including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. 

 
In the opinion of the Board, the accounting estimates and judgements made in the course of preparing 
these financial statements are not difficult, subjective or complex to a degree which would warrant 
their description as critical in terms of the requirements of IAS 1. 

 
4. Changes in accounting policies 

 
4.1 New and amended IFRS Standards that are effective for the current year 

 
In the current year, the Authority has applied new and amended IFRS Standards issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and adopted by the EU that are mandatorily 
effective in EU for an accounting period that begins on or after 1 January 2021. The adoption of new 
and amended standards did not have a material impact on the Authority’s financial statements. 
 

 Amendments to IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts – deferral of IFRS 9 (effective for financial years 
beginning on or after 1 January 2021) 

 Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 Interest Rate Benchmark 
Reform – Phase 2 (effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2021) 

 
The adoption of new and amended standards did not have a material impact on the Authority’s 
financial statements. 
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4. Changes in accounting policies - continued 
 

4.2  Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet   
 effective and have not been adopted early by the Authority 

 
At the date of the authorisation of these financial statements, certain new standards, amendments 
and interpretations to existing standards have been published by the IASB but are not yet effective 
and have not been adopted early by the Authority. 
 

 Amendments to IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts – deferral of IFRS 9 (effective for financial years 
beginning on or after 1 January 2021) 

 Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 Interest Rate Benchmark 
Reform – Phase 2 (effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2021) 

 
Management anticipates that all the relevant pronouncements will be adopted in the Authority’s 
accounting policies for the first period beginning after the effective date of the pronouncement.  
 
Certain new standards and interpretations have been issued but are not expected to have a material 
impact on the Authority’s financial statements. 

 
4.3 Standards, amendments and interpretations to published standards that are not yet 

endorsed by the EU 
 
 IFRS 17 Insurance contracts (effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2023)  
 Amendment to IFRS 3 Business Combinations, IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment, IAS 37 

Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, Annual Improvements 2018 - 2020 
(effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2022) 

 Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Classification of Liabilities as 
Current or Non-Current and Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current – Deferral of 
Effective Date (effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2023) 
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6. Receivables 
 

  2021 2020 
 € € 
   
Prepayments 23,522 - 
Trade receivables 16,714 - 
       40,237 - 
       

 
7.  Cash and cash equivalents 

 
For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following:  
 
 2021 2020 
 € € 
   
Cash at bank and in hand 834,343 340,077 
       

8. Trade and other payables 
 

  2021 2020 
 € € 
   
Trade payables 40,450 30,550 
Accruals 58,030 34,737 
Other payables 3,700 3,710 
Deferred income 331,240 50,000 
       433,420 118,997 
       

Trade payables are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand. 
 
9. Revenue 

 
Revenue represents government funds, supplementary government income, ESF scheme funds and 
contributions. 

 
 2021 2020 
 € € 
   
Government subvention 2,300,000 1,945,184 
Supplementary government income - 30,000 
ESF scheme funds 16,795 13,386 
Contributions - 28,023 
       2,316,795 2,016,593 
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10.      Expenses by nature 
 

 2021 2020 
 € € 
   
Employee benefit expense (Note 11) 1,586,057 1,294,401 
Other payroll costs  46,215 52,854 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 5) 26,539 20,183 
Maintenance and refurbishment of building - 377,367 
Repair and maintenance fees 64,744 38,595 
Membership and participation fees  7,159 14,327 
Legal and professional fees 17,588 3,422 
Bank charges 232 367 
Rent 71,815 71,815 
Other expenses 286,544 277,324 
      Total administrative expenses 2,106,893 2,150,655 
       

Auditors’ fees 
 
Fees charged by the auditors for services rendered during the financial years ended 31 December 
2021 and 2020 relate to the following: 
 
 2021 2020 
 € € 
   
Annual statutory audit 3,540 1,450 
       

11. Employee benefit expense 
 
 2021 2020 
 € € 
   
Board’s remuneration 70,171 60,656 
Wages and salaries 1,410,184 1,146,004 
Social security costs 105,701 87,741 
       1,586,057 1,294,401 
       

The average weekly number of persons employed by the Social Care Standards Authority during the 
financial reporting year was: 
 
 2021 2020 
   
Board members 7 7 
Directly employed by the Authority 49 41 
       56 48 
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12. Other income 

 
 2021 2020 
 € € 
   
Reimbursement of building maintenance expenses 20,093 377,367 
       20,093 377,367 
       

13. Tax expense 
 

The Authority is exempt from the payment of Income Tax in terms of Article 13 of the Social Care 
Standards Authority Act (Cap. 582.). 

 
14. Cash generated from operations 

 
Reconciliation of surplus before tax to cash generated from operations: 
 
 2021 2020 
 € € 
   
Surplus before tax 229,995 243,305 
   
Adjustments for:   
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 5) 26,539 20,183 
   
Changes in working capital:   
Receivables (40,237) 1,416 
Trade and other payables 314,423 66,398 
      Cash generated from operations 530,720 331,302 
       

15. Related party transactions 
 
During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2021, there were no transactions with key 
management personnel except for emolument payments as disclosed in Note 11 and the 
Government subvention as disclosed in Note 9. 
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15. Related party transactions - continued 

 
 2021 2020 
 € € 
   
Revenue   
Government subvention 2,300,000 1,945,184 
Supplementary government income - 30,000 
Reimbursement of building maintenance expenses - 377,367 
       2,300,000 2,352,551 
         
Expenditure   
Rent 71,815 71,815 
Maintenance and refurbishment of building - 377,367 
       

71,815 449,182 
    

16 Events after the reporting period 
 

As per the prediction of the Board, the Authority’s financial situation in the year 2021 as per date of 
issue of these financial statements, is still very similar to that in the year presented in these accounts. 
The Authority envisages a healthy surplus, especially in view of the increase in the government 
subvention and the slowing down of the recruitment process. 
 
As the current circumstances are everchanging, the Board is constantly monitoring the situation and 
believes that current COVID-19 pandemic will not have an adverse effect on the Authority. Hence, 
the Board believes that there are no immediate threats to the Authority’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. 
 
The matters described above are considered to be a non-adjusting, post-balance sheet event. 
 

17. Statutory information 
 
Social Care Standards Authority is a State-owned Authority set-up by virtue of the Social Care 
Standards Authority Act Cap. 582. 
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Schedule for administrative expenses 
 
  2021 2020 
  € € 
    
Board’s remuneration  70,171 60,656 
Employee benefit expenses  1,515,886 1,233,745 
Other payroll costs  46,215 52,854 
Maintenance and refurbishment of building  - 377,367 
Consumables  34,099 26,492 
Materials and supplies  29,610 40,447 
Repairs and maintenance  64,744 38,595 
Rent  71,815 71,815 
Membership and participation fees  7,159 14,327 
Office expenses  36,490 29,494 
Transport expenses  12,381 11,498 
Overseas travel expenses  - 6,463 
Public relations expenses   23,128 28,966 
Legal and professional fees  69,516 45,042 
Training expenses  666 1,480 
Conference expenses  29,543 45,397 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  26,539 20,183 
Other expenses  68,931 45,834 
        Total administrative expenses  2,106,893 2,150,655 
         

This schedule does not form part of the audited financial statements. 

APPENDICES

List of Laws and Standards

Primary and Secondary Legislation

 - Social Care Standards Authority Act, 2018 (Chapter 582)

 - Various Social Welfare Laws (Amendment), 2019 (Act II of 2019)

 - Brussels II, Regulation (EC) 2201/2003

 - Council Regulation (EC) No 2201/2003 concerning jurisdiction and the recognition and 
  enforcement of judgments in matrimonial matters and the matters of parental responsibility, 
  repealing Regulation (EC) No 1347/2000 (27 November 2003)

 - Council Regulation (EU) 2019/1111 on jurisdiction, the recognition and enforcement of 
  decisions in matrimonial matters and the matters of parental responsibility, and on 
  international child abduction (25 June 2019)

 - S.L. 582.11: Continuation of Essential Welfare Services in Exceptional Circumstances 
  Regulations (L.N. 149 of 2020)

 - S.L. 582.12: Enforcement Office within the Social Care Standards Authority (Establishment) 
  Regulations, 2020 (L.N. 153 of 2020)

Adoptions

 - Adoption Administration Act, 2008 (Chapter 495)

 - Civil Code Title III (Chapter 16)

 - Convention on Protection of Children and Co-Operation in Respect of Intercountry Adoption 
  (29 May 1993)

 - Convention on Jurisdiction, Applicable Law and Recognition of Decrees Relating to 
  Adoptions (15 November 1965)

 - European Convention on the Adoption of Children (Revised), 2008

Child Protection

 - Minor Protection (Alternative Care) Act (Chapter 602)

 - Convention on Jurisdiction, Applicable Law, Recognition, Enforcement and Co-operation in 
  respect of Parental Responsibility and Measures for the Protection of Children (19 October 1996)
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Abductions

 - Child Abduction and Custody Act, 2000 (Chapter 410) 

 - Convention on the Civil Aspects of International Child Abduction (25 October 1980)

 - S.L. 410.01: Convention on the civil aspects of international child abduction order

 - S.L. 410.02: European convention on the recognition and enforcement of decisions concerning 
  custody of children and on the restoration of custody of children order

 - S.L. 460.25: International Maintenance Obligations Order

 - S.L. 460.37: International maintenance obligations (legal aid) order

Maintenance

 - Convention on the International Recovery of Child Support and Other Forms of Family 
  Maintenance (23 November 2007)

 - Convention on the Recognition and Enforcement of Decisions Relating to Maintenance 
  Obligations (2 October 1973)

 - Convention on the Law Applicable to Maintenance Obligations (2 October 1973)

 - Protocol on the Law Applicable to Maintenance Obligations (23 November 2007)

 - Protocol on the Law Applicable to Maintenance Obligations (23 November 2007)

 - Convention on the law applicable to maintenance obligations towards children (24 October 1956)

 - Convention on the law applicable to maintenance obligations towards children (24 October 1956)

 - Council Regulation (EC) No 4/2009 on jurisdiction, applicable law, recognition and enforcement 
  of decisions and cooperation in matters relating to maintenance obligations (18 December 2008) 

Social Regulatory Standards

 - S.L. 582.16: Social Regulatory Standards for Residential Services for Persons Living with 
  Dementia in Homes for Senior Citizens Regulations, 2021 (Legal Notice 375 of 2021)

 - S.L. 582.15: Social Regulatory Standards for Residential Services for Senior Citizens 
  Regulations, 2021 (Legal Notice 322 of 2021)

 - S.L. 582.13: Social Regulatory Standards for Community-Based and Outreach Services 
  Regulations, 2020 (Legal Notice 281 of 2020)

 - S.L. 582.09: Social Regulatory Standards for High Dependency Chronic Care Services for 
  Older Persons Regulations, 2020 (Legal Notice 36 of 2020)

 - S.L. 582.08: Social Regulatory Standards for Office-based Services for Children in Alternative 
  Care, 2020 (Legal Notice 34 of 2020)

 - S.L. 582.07: Social Regulatory Standards for Residential Services for Children in Alternative 
  Care, 2020 (Legal Notice 33 of 2020)

 - S.L. 582.06: Social Regulatory Standards for Residential Services Offered to Individuals with 
  Problems Related to Substance Abuse and other Dependencies, 2019 (Legal Notice 341 of 2019)

 - S.L. 582.05: Social Regulatory Standards for Outreach and Community-based Services 
  offered to Individuals with Problems Related to Substance Abuse and other Dependencies, 
  2020 (Legal Notice 340 of 2019)

 - S.L. 582.04: Social Regulatory Standards on Day Centre Services for Persons with Disability 
  Regulations, 2019 (Legal Notice 323 of 2019)

 - L.N. 62 of 2019: Social Regulatory Standards on Respite Services for Persons with Disability 
  Regulations, 2019

 - L.N. 18 of 2019: Social Regulatory Standards on Residential Services for Persons with Disability 
  Regulations, 2019

 - L.N. 445 of 2018: Social Regulatory Standards on Adoption of Children Regulations, 2018
  Secondary Legislation

 - S.L. 582.11: Continuation of Essential Welfare Services in Exceptional Circumstances 
  Regulations (Legal Notice 149 of 2020)

 - S.L. 582.12: Enforcement Office within the Social Care Standards Authority (Establishment) 
  Regulations, 2020 (Legal Notice 153 of 2020)

Legal Notices

 - L.N. 167 of 2018: Commencement Notice 

 - L.N.285 of 2018: Commencement Notice 

 - L.N.446 of 2018: Commencement Notice

 - L.N.127 of 2021: Granting of an Emergency Licence in Exceptional Circumstances Regulations 
  (Amendment), 2021

 - L.N.424 of 2020: Mandatory Measures for Residential Services for Older Persons Regulations, 2020

 - L.N.74 of 2020: Granting of an Emergency Licence in Exceptional Circumstances Regulations, 
  2020

Other

SCSA Strategic Vision 2020 – 2027, “Striving for Excellence: Driving Social Innovation through 
Regulation”

National Adoption Strategy for Children and their Families 2019 – 2022 
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LICENSED SERVICE PROVIDERS

ISSUED LICENSES IN 2021

SERVICE PROVIDERS SERVICE NAMES

ADOPTIONS

Agenzija Tama Agenzija Tama

Adoption Opportunities Agency Adoption Opportunities

Foundation for Social Welfare Services Adoption Service

FOSTERING

RENEWAL

FSWS - Agenzija Appoġġ Fostering Service

 RESIDENTIAL - OLDER PERSONS

RENEWAL

Care Malta Ltd Casa Maria

Smart Care Pinto Ltd Dar Pinto

AACC + CareMalta Ltd Zammit Clapp Residential Home

Church Homes for the Elderly Dar Nikola Saura

Dominican Sisters St. Catherine's Home for the Elderly

Dominican Sisters St. Peter Home / Dar San Pietru

Active Ageing and Community Care Floriana Home - Dar il- Mistrieh

Franciscan Sisters Dar Madre Margerita

Church Homes for the Elderly Casa Leone XIII

Franciscan Sisters Porziuncola Home

Care Malta Ltd Roseville

Care Residence Operations Ltd. Residenza San Guzepp

AACC + CareMalta Ltd Cospicua Home / Bormla Home

Care Malta Ltd Casa San Paolo

Dominican Sisters Apap Institute

Church Homes for the Elderly Holy Family Home - Dar Sagra Familja

Casa Francesco Residential Care Home Casa Francesco Residential Care Home

BBF Operating Ltd St Thomas Community Living

KURA Gozo Co Ltd Villa San Lawrenz

Church Homes for the Elderly Dar tal-Kleru

LyonsCare Ltd Casa Paola

Casa Antonia Casa Antonia

Active Ageing and Community Care Mosta Home

Caring First Ltd Jasmine Nursing Home

Age Concern Co Ltd Central Home

Prime Care Ltd St. Elizabeth Home

AACC + CareMalta Ltd Mellieha Home - Dar Il-Madonna tal-Mellieha

AACC + CareMalta Ltd Zejtun Home

Franciscan Sisters Pax et Bonum

Care Malta Ltd Casa Arkati

Dominican Sisters St. Domenic Home

Hilltop Gardens Simblija Care Home

Care Malta Ltd Villa Messina

Caring First Ltd Casa Serena

Active Ageing and Community Care Mtarfa Home - Dar il-Ġmiel

Golden Care Ltd Golden Care

Little Sisters of the Poor St. Paul's Home

NEW LICENCE 

John Ghigo Holdings Ltd Ghigo Community Care

TEMPORARY

Eldercare Operations Ltd Dar l-Annunzjata

St. George's Care Ltd The Imperial
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RESIDENTIAL - PERSONS WITH DISABILITY

RENEWAL

Agenzija Sapport Villino Maria

Fondazzjoni Arka Dar il-Madonna ta' Pinu

Fondazzjoni Wens Dar l-Abilita' - Residential Disability

Agenzija Sapport Birzebbuga Residential Service

Agenzija Sapport Dar Andrew

Fondazzjoni Wens Dar Merhba

Agenzija Sapport Kirkop Residence

Dar tal-Providenza Siggiewi Complex

Dar tal-Providenza Dar Pirotta

Dar tal-Providenza Żernieq

Dar tal-Providenza Akkwarel

Fondazzjoni Arka Dar il-Ġublew tal-Hniena

Fondazzjoni Arka Dar Arka

Fondazzjoni Nazareth Dar Nazareth

Fondazzjoni Nazareth Dar Madre Tereza

Fondazzjoni Nazareth Dar l-Arcipriet Degabriele

Agenzija Sapport Fgura Residence

Agenzija Sapport Dar Iris - Zabbar Residence

Agenzija Sapport Dar Ave Maria - Marsa Residence

Agenzija Sapport Dar Orkidea - Siggiewi Residence

Agenzija Sapport Dar il-Fjuri - Gozo Residence

Agenzija Sapport Dar Warda - Pembroke Residence

Dar tal-Providenza Shalom

Hila Homes Ltd Casa Apap Bologna - Residential Adults

Hila Homes Ltd Casa Apap Bologna - Residential Children

Fondazzjoni Wens Dar il-Wens

RESIDENTIAL - MINORS IN ALTERNATIVE CARE

RENEWAL

MSSP St. Joseph Home - Hamrun

Youth Alive Foundation Dar Frate Jacoba

FSWS - Alternative Care Directorate (Children and Young 

People)
Santa Margerita Home

Ursuline Homes Angela House

Conservatorio Vincenzo Bugeja Jeanne Antide

Ursuline Homes St. Rita Home

Ursuline Homes Sliema Crèshe

FSWS - Alternative Care Directorate (Children and Young 

People)
Community Home Service - Paola

Fondazzjoni Sebh Fra Diegu Home - St. Michael Flat

Fondazzjoni Sebh Sagra Familja

Fondazzjoni Sebh Dar Santa Tereza

Salesians of Don Bosco St. Patrick's

Salesians of Don Bosco Don Bosco House

Conservatorio Vincenzo Bugeja Fejda

FSWS - Alternative Care Directorate (Children and Young 

People)
Community Residential Services - Siblings Home

FSWS - Alternative Care Directorate (Children and Young 

People)
Community Residential Service - Marsascala - Triq il-Blajjiet

FSWS - Alternative Care Directorate (Children and Young 

People)
Community Residential Service - Marsascala - Triq l-Ahmar

FSWS - Alternative Care Directorate (Children and Young 

People)
Community Residential Service - Mosta - Sempreviva

FSWS - Alternative Care Directorate (Children and Young 

People)
Community Residential Services - Attard

Richmond Foundation Kids In Development Programme

Fondazzjoni Sebħ Dar San Nikola - St. Agnes Flat

 RESIDENTIAL - IMMIGRANTS AND ASYLUM SEEKERS [UNACCOMPANIED MINORS]

RENEWAL

Agency for the Welfare of Asylum Seekers Dar il-Liedna

RESIDENTIAL - REHABILITATION IN SOCIETY

RENEWAL

Rise Foundation Dar Sister Maria Adele Baldacchino
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SUPPORTED ACCOMODATION 

RENEWAL

St. Jeanne Antide Foundation Y-Assist Supported Accomodation - Dar Esther

Ursuline Homes Fatima House

Salesians of Don Bosco Dar Mamma Margerita

FSWS - Alternative Care Directorate (Children and Young 

People)
Toorak 2 Aftercare Service

National Federation of Past Pupils of Don Bosco Alberto Marvelli Residence

Conservatorio Vincenzo Bugeja Semi Independent Living Programme (SILP)

Fondazzjoni Arka Dar il-Ġublew tal-Hniena

Salesians of Don Bosco Osanna Pia

RESIDENTIAL - OLDER PERSONS LIVING WITH DEMENTIA

RENEWAL

St Vincent de Paul Long Term Care Facility St. John Paul II - Ward 2

St Vincent de Paul Long Term Care Facility St. John Paul II - Ward 1

NEW LICENCE

St Vincent de Paul Long Term Care Facility St. Joseph - Ward 10

St Vincent de Paul Long Term Care Facility St. Joseph - Ward 11

St Vincent de Paul Long Term Care Facility St. Joseph - Ward 8

St Vincent de Paul Long Term Care Facility St. Joseph - Ward 7

RESIDENTIAL - PERSONS WITH ADDICTIONS RELATED TO DRUGS, ALCOHOL AND GAMBLING

RENEWAL

FSWS - Agenzija Sedqa Komunita' Santa Maria

FSWS - Agenzija Sedqa Dar l-Impenn - Substance Misuse In-Patients Unit

Caritas Prison Inmates Programme

Caritas San Blas - Male Shelter

Oasi Foundation Residential Treatment and Rehabilitation

Caritas San Blas - Female Residential Programme - Dar et Iris

Caritas Dar Charles Miceli

Caritas San Blas - Therapeutic Community for Males

GENERAL RESIDENTIAL SERVICES

NEW LICENCE

YMCA Malta Y Communal Home

Foundation for Social Welfare Services Toorak Penthouse

Foundation for Social Welfare Services Toorak Maisonette

Foundation for Social Welfare Services Toorak Flat 1

RESIDENTIAL - HIGH DEPENDENCY CHRONIC CARE SERVICES

RENEWAL

St Vincent de Paul Long Term Care Facility Serenity - Ward 1

St Vincent de Paul Long Term Care Facility Serenity - Ward 2

St Vincent de Paul Long Term Care Facility Serenity - Ward 3

St Vincent de Paul Long Term Care Facility Mother Theresa - Ward 1

St Vincent de Paul Long Term Care Facility Mother Theresa - Ward 2

St Vincent de Paul Long Term Care Facility Mother Theresa - Ward 3

St Vincent de Paul Long Term Care Facility St. Francis - Ward 2

St Vincent de Paul Long Term Care Facility St. Francis - Ward 3

St Vincent de Paul Long Term Care Facility St. Francis - Ward 4

St Vincent de Paul Long Term Care Facility St. John Paul II - Ward 3

St Vincent de Paul Long Term Care Facility St. John Paul II - Ward 4

St Vincent de Paul Long Term Care Facility St. John Paul II - Ward 5

St Vincent de Paul Long Term Care Facility St. John Paul II - Ward 6

St Vincent de Paul Long Term Care Facility Padre Pio - Ward 3 - Fatima

St Vincent de Paul Long Term Care Facility St. Joseph - Ward 1

St Vincent de Paul Long Term Care Facility St. Joseph - Ward 4

St Vincent de Paul Long Term Care Facility St. Joseph - Ward 5

St Vincent de Paul Long Term Care Facility St. Joseph - Ward 6

St Vincent de Paul Long Term Care Facility Ruzar Briffa - Ward 1

St Vincent de Paul Long Term Care Facility Ruzar Briffa - Ward 2

St Vincent de Paul Long Term Care Facility Admission

St Vincent de Paul Long Term Care Facility St. Joseph -Ward 3
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NEW LICENSE

St Vincent de Paul Long Term Care Facility Stella Maris - Ward 1

St Vincent de Paul Long Term Care Facility Stella Maris - Ward 2

St Vincent de Paul Long Term Care Facility Stella Maris - Ward 3

St Vincent de Paul Long Term Care Facility San Gorg Preca - Ward 1

St Vincent de Paul Long Term Care Facility Madonna ta' Pinu Block B - Ward 1

St Vincent de Paul Long Term Care Facility Madonna ta' Pinu Block B - Ward 2

St Vincent de Paul Long Term Care Facility Madonna ta' Pinu Block B - Ward 3

St Vincent de Paul Long Term Care Facility Madonna ta' Pinu Block B - Ward 4

St Vincent de Paul Long Term Care Facility Madonna ta' Pinu Block B - Ward 5

St Vincent de Paul Long Term Care Facility San Gorg Preca - Ward 2

St Vincent de Paul Long Term Care Facility San Gorg Preca - Ward 3

St Vincent de Paul Long Term Care Facility Kristu Re - Ward 1

St Vincent de Paul Long Term Care Facility Kristu Re - Ward 2

St Vincent de Paul Long Term Care Facility Kristu Re - Ward 3

St Vincent de Paul Long Term Care Facility Kristu Re - Ward 4

St Vincent de Paul Long Term Care Facility Kristu Re - Ward 5

St Vincent de Paul Long Term Care Facility St. John Paul II - Ward 4

St Vincent de Paul Long Term Care Facility Padre Pio - Ward 1 - Loreto

St Vincent de Paul Long Term Care Facility Padre Pio - Ward 2 - Loreto

St Vincent de Paul Long Term Care Facility St. Joseph - Ward 2

DAY CENTRES - ACTIVE AGEING

RENEWAL

Active Ageing and Community Care Żejtun Active Ageing Centre

Active Ageing and Community Care Ħamrun Active Ageing Centre

AACC + Local Council Sliema Active Ageing Centre

Active Ageing and Community Care Zurrieq Active Ageing Day Centre

AACC + Local Council Msida Active Ageing Centre

AACC + Local Council Naxxar Active Ageing Centre

AACC + Local Council Hal-Luqa Active Ageing Centre

Active Ageing and Community Care Mellieha Active Ageing Centre

Active Ageing and Community Care Birzebbugia Active Ageing Centre

Active Ageing and Community Care Bormla Active Ageing Centre

Active Ageing and Community Care Dingly Active Ageing Centre

Active Ageing and Community Care Mgarr Active Ageing Centre

AACC + Local Council Santa Lucia Active Ageing Centre

DAY CENTRES - PERSONS WITH DISABILITY

RENEWAL

Agenzija Sapport Mtarfa Resource Centre

Agenzija Sapport Fleur De Lys Day Centre

Inspire Star 25 - Bulebel

Agenzija Sapport Mtarfa Day Centre

Agenzija Sapport Hal Far Day Centre

Agenzija Sapport Swatar Day Centre

Fondazzjoni Nazareth Dar San Guzepp Haddiem

Agenzija Sapport Paola Day Centre

Agenzija Sapport Sliema Day Centre

Agenzija Sapport Ghajnsielem Learning Hub

Agenzija Sapport Bahar ic-Caghaq Day Centre

Agenzija Sapport Gwardjola Day Centre

Hila Homes Ltd Casa Apap Bologna - Day Centre - Adults

Hila Homes Ltd Casa Apap Bologna - Day Care - Children

Agenzija Sapport Cottonera Resource Centre

Foundation for Respite Care Services Dar il-Kaptan Day Programme

NEW LICENSE

Santa Marta Day Centre Dar Santa Marta Day Centre

DAY CENTRES - OLDER PERSONS LIVING WITH DEMENTIA

RENEWAL

Active Ageing and Community Care Mtarfa Dementia Activity Centre

LyonsCare Ltd Senses - Dementia Centre

Active Ageing and Community Care Safi Dementia Activity Centre
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iCare Ltd Casa Amalia  - Day Centre

Active Ageing and Community Care Dar Padova - Dementia Activity Centre

 COMMUNITY-BASED AND OUTREACH SERVICES FOR SENIOR CITIZENS

Villa Anna Teresa Operating Ltd Care at Home Services

COMMUNITY - PERSONS WITH DISABILITY

RENEWAL

Agenzija Sapport Community Services

Agenzija Sapport Sign Language Interpreting Services

Agenzija Sapport Assessment and Intervention Team

Inspire Therapeutic Horseback riding services

Agenzija Sapport NGO Agreements

Agenzija Sapport Sharing Lives

Inspire Stand Alone Therapeutic Services - Għajnsielem, Gozo

Inspire Epic Skills Programme - Ghajnielem, Gozo

Inspire Stand Alone Therapeutic Services - Marsascala

COMMUNITY - MINORS

RENEWAL

Karl Vella Foundation The President's Kitchen Garden

FSWS - Alternative Care Directorate 
(Children and Young People)

Adoloscent Day Programme - ADP / E4L

FSWS - Alternative Care Directorate 
(Children and Young People)

Youth in Focus

FSWS - Agenzija Appogg Child Web Alert Hotline

NEW LICENSE

Willingness SAVs by Willingness

COMMUNITY - FAMILIES

RENEWAL

FSWS - Gozo Branch Fergħa tal-FSWS f'Għawdex - Xewkija

Paolo Freire Foundation Educational Activities for Adults

Paolo Freire Foundation Provision of Therapy

Paolo Freire Foundation Community Social Work

Paolo Freire Foundation Educational Activities for Children

St. Jeanne Antide Foundation Centru Antida

St. Jeanne Antide Foundation Lwien Service

Foundation for Social Welfare Services (FSWS) Cottonera Community Services - Kirkop Centre

Foundation for Social Welfare Services (FSWS) Kirkop Community Services - Marsascala Centre

Foundation for Social Welfare Services (FSWS) Qormi Community Services

Foundation for Social Welfare Services (FSWS) Cottonera Community Services - Santa Lucia Centre

Foundation for Social Welfare Services Cottonera Community Services -Workshop

Foundation for Social Welfare Services (FSWS) Home Based Therapeutic Service - South

Foundation for Social Welfare Services (FSWS) Home Based Therapeutic Service  - North

Foundation for Social Welfare Services (FSWS) Msida and Birkirkara Community Services

FSWS - ACTS Cottonera Community Services - Triq Nelson

Foundation for Social Welfare Services (FSWS) Qawra Community Services

Foundation for Social Welfare Services (FSWS) Valletta Community Services

FSWS - Alternative Care Directorate 
(Children and Young People)

Programm Ulied Darna

St. Jeanne Antide Foundation Centru Enrichetta

Foundation for Social Welfare Services (FSWS) Mosta Community Services

Foundation for Social Welfare Services (FSWS) Fergħa tal-FSWS f'Għawdex - Victoria

Foundation for Social Welfare Services (FSWS) Community Family Centre - Marsalforn

Foundation for Social Welfare Services (FSWS) Acts Home based Therapeutic Services - Central

FSWS - ACTS Cottonera Community Service - Triq San Dwardu

Fondazzjoni Sebh Community Prevention Team

FSWS - Agenzija Appogg Intake and Family Services

NEW LICENSE

FSWS - Gozo Branch HBTS Gozo

COMMUNITY-BASED SERVICES - GENERAL

RENEWAL

Friends of Thouret Sisters of Charity Dar Hosea - Drop in Centre

FSWS - Agenzija Sedqa Prevention Team

FSWS - Agenzija Appogg Human Trafficking

FSWS - Alternative Care Directorate 
(Children and Young People)

Embark for Life
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COMMUNITY-BASED SERVICES - PERSONS WITH ADDICTIONS RELATED TO DRUGS, 
ALCOHOL AND GAMBLING

RENEWAL

FSWS - Agenzija Sedqa Addiction Community Team

FSWS - Agenzija Sedqa Psychological Services

Oasi Foundation Outpatient Treatment and Rehabilitation Services

Caritas Outreach Community Services - New Hope

Oasi Foundation Immediate Intervention Services

Oasi Foundation Assessment and Motivation Services

Caritas Community Wellbeing and Development Unit (CWDU)

Caritas Employee Assistance Programme

Oasi Foundation Support Services

FSWS - Gozo Branch Prevention Services

COMMUNITY-BASED SERVICES - VICTIMS OF DOMESTIC VIOLENCE

RENEWAL

FSWS - Agenzija Appogg Domestic Violence

RESPITE - OLDER PERSONS

RENEWAL

Care Residence Operations Ltd. Residenza San Guzepp - Respite

Church Homes for the Elderly Casa Leone XIII - Respite

TEMPORARY 

Eldercare Operations Ltd Dar Annunzjata - Respite

RESPITE - PERSONS WITH DISABILITY

RENEWAL

Foundation for Respite Care Services Dar il-Kaptan - Respite

Hila Homes Ltd Casa Apap Bologna - Respite Adults

Hila Homes Ltd Casa Apap Bologna - Respite Children

Fondazzjoni Wens Dar il-Wens - Respite

Fondazzjoni Arka Dar Arka - Respite

SHELTER - OLDER PERSONS

RENEWAL

Care Residence Operations Ltd. Residenza San Guzepp - Night Shelter

SHELTER - ADULTS

RENEWAL

Fondazzjoni Dar il-Hena Reach Residential Home

Fondazzjoni Dar il-Hena Dar Papa Frangisku

Fondazzjoni Dar il-Hena Dar Maria Dolores

Fondazzjoni Suret il-Bniedem Dar Patri Leopoldo

Fondazzjoni Kenn u Tama Dar Emmaus

Fondazzjoni Suret il-Bniedem Dar Tereza Spinelli

NEW LICENSE

Fondazzjoni Mid-Dlam għad-Dawl L-Ewwel Kenn

Fondazzjoni Mid-Dlam għad-Dawl Ġieħ u Tama

SHELTER - OLDER PERSONS WITH DEMENTIA

RENEWAL

iCare Ltd Casa Amalia  - Night Shelter

SHELTER - VICTIMS OF DOMESTIC VIOLENCE

RENEWAL

Fondazzjoni Merhba Bik Dar Merhba Bik

FSWS - Agenzija Appogg Ghabex Shelter

Fondazzjoni Sebħ Il-Milja Flat 2

Fondazzjoni Sebħ Il- Milja Flat 12

Fondazzjoni Sebħ Il- Milja Flat 3

Fondazzjoni Sebħ Il- Milja Flat 4

Fondazzjoni Sebħ Il- Milja Flat 5

Fondazzjoni Sebħ Il- Milja Flat 6

Fondazzjoni Sebħ Il- Milja Flat 9

Fondazzjoni Merhba Bik Dar Santa Bakhita
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Fondazzjoni Sebħ Il-Milja Flat 1

Fondazzjoni Sebħ Il-Milja Flat 7

Fondazzjoni Sebħ Il-Milja Flat 8

Fondazzjoni Sebħ Il-Milja Flat 11

Fondazzjoni Sebħ Il-Milja Flat 10

SHELTER - FAMILIES

RENEWAL

Life Network Foundation Dar Tgħanniqa ta' Omm

 SHELTER - ADULTS AND FAMILIES

RENEWAL

YMCA Dar Niki Cassar

OFFICE BASED - MINORS IN ALTERNATIVE CARE

RENEWAL

FSWS - Alternative Care Directorate 

(Children and Young People)
Looked After Children

Foundation for Social Welfare Services (FSWS) Child Protection Service

FSWS - Alternative Care Directorate 

(Children and Young People)
High Support Services

FSWS - Alternative Care Directorate 

(Children and Young People)
Social Contacts Services

NEW LICENSE

FSWS - Alternative Care Directorate 

(Children and Young People)
After Care Service

FSWS - Alternative Care Directorate 

(Children and Young People)
Supervised Access Visits (SAVs)

OFFICE BASED - VICTIMS OF DOMESTIC VIOLENCE

RENEWAL

St. Jeanne Antide Foundation SOAR Service

NEW LICENSE

FSWS - Agenzija Appogg STOP! The Violence and Abuse

FSWS - Agenzija Appogg Child to Parent Violence

FSWS - Agenzija Appogg Domestic Violence Risk Assessment Service

OFFICE BASED - GENERAL

RENEWAL

FSWS - Agenzija Appogg Support Line 179

SOS Malta Kellimni.com

FSWS - Agenzija Appogg After Hours Emergency

YMCA Malta Youth Empowerment Programme

Victim Support Malta Care for Victims of Sexual Assault

Victim Support Malta Generic Service

Victim Support Malta
Suicide Prevention Outreach and Therapeutic Services - 

SPOT

FSWS - Agenzija Sedqa Court Services

OFFICE BASED - PROVIDED AT HEALTH INSTITUTIONS

RENEWAL

FSWS - Agenzija Appogg Social Work Service within Mater Dei Hospital

FSWS - Agenzija Appogg Social Work Service within SAMOC

FSWS - Agenzija Appogg Social Work Service within Qormi Health Centre

FSWS - Agenzija Appogg Social Work Service within St. Vincent de Paul Residence

NEW LICENSE

FSWS - Gozo Branch Social Work Service provided at the Gozo General Hospital

OFFICE BASED - PERSONS WITH ADDICTIONS RELATED TO DRUGS, ALCOHOL AND GAMBLING

RENEWAL

FSWS - Agenzija Appogg Servizz Benniena

EMERGENCY LICENCE IN EXCEPTIONAL CIRCUMSTANCES REGULATIONS UNDER L.N. 74 OF 2020)

FSWS - Agenzija Appogg Agenzija Appogg Offices - Charity Flat 1

FSWS - Agenzija Appogg Agenzija Appogg Offices - Charity Flat 2

Stewart Health Care Stewart Health Care
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NOTES
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469, Bugeia Institute, St Joseph High Street, Santa Venera 

t. +356 2549 4400  w. www.scsa.gov.mt


